· · ·	•
Bibliothèque	nationale
du Canada	

**Canadian Theses Division** 

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

National Library

43552

of Canada

#### PERMISSION TO MICROFILM - AUTORISATION DE MICROFILMER

Division des thèses canadiennes

• Please print or type — Écrire en lettres moulées ou dactylographier

Full Name of Author - Nom complet de l'auteur

CAR HANGT

Date of Birth — Date de naissance				Country of Birth -	– Lieu de naissance	· ·
	$\mathbb{E}^{-1}$ , $\mathbb{Z}^{+}$ ,	7 /.	·····	123	·	
Permanent Address	- Résidence fixe	1.1		E. M. G.	v Tr v, to the	
			· · · · ,	•		

Title of Thesis - Titre de la thèse

Experience Enalling of VARIES Mar N CARDON BACKER

University - Université うた わたくとく かい 1 INVIE STATU

Degree for which thesis was presented -- Grade pour lequel cette thèse fut présentée · 27 . 5 . 5 .

Year this degree conferred — Année d'obtention de ce grade	Name of Supervisor — Nom du directeur de thèse
Facily, 1979	Report De Olto

Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÈ-QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.

		 	ъ.
Date	· · · · · ·		Signature
	ал. — с. •		A LEUS S

# Nation

### National Library of Canada

Cataloguing Branch Canadian Theses Division

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

#### Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction du catalogage Division des thèses canadiennes

## NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms, which accompany this thesis.

#### THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

AVIS

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documants qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

## LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

NL-339 (3/77)

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

EXPERIMENTAL EVALUATION OF VARIABLES AFFECTING THE LEAD DIOXIDE METHOD FOR MONITORING OF SULFUR DIOXIDE

ΒY

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN CHEMICAL ENGINEERING

DEPARTMENT OF CHEMICAL ENGINEERING

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

Fall, 1979

CHARANJIT SINGH

#### UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Gradoate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled "Experimental Evaluation of Variables Affecting the Lead Dioxide Method for Monitoring of Sulfur Dioxide", submitted by Charanjit Singh in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Chemical Engineering.

Supervisor

Q. Weso

light

Æ

Date

Experimental evaluations of the effect of humidity, temperature, wind speed and sulfur dioxide concentrations on sulfation rate of lead dioxide cylinders were conducted with the use of environmental chambers and a closed loop wind tunnel. Sulfation candles with reactive coated area of 100 cm<sup>2</sup> were prepared using PbO<sub>2</sub> particles with specific surface areas ranging from 1.72 to 8.3 m<sup>2</sup>/g. The effect of SO<sub>2</sub> concentrations were studied in the range of 0.08 to 0.32. The temper-ature effects were evaluated between -40 to 40°C. The relative ities and wind speeds varied from 30 to 80% and 0 to 30 m/l, respectively. A continuous SO<sub>2</sub> monitor was used to control gas concertrations in these experiments.

The results of the study indicated that the effects of temperature and relative humidity were negligible as compared to the significant effects of gas concentrations and wind speeds.

The correlation factors agreed well with those obtained in the field by other investigators and those predicted by the gas phase resistance model proposed by Liang et al. The predicted sulfation rates by this model agreed with the experimentally obtained rates at various wind speeds. In the wind speed-range of 0.3 to 8.4 m/s, the sulfation rate increased by 1.51 mgSO<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/d for an increase of 1 m/s in the wind speed. The average correlation factor for candles and plates was 0.0355 ppm/mgSO<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/d with +25% deviation over the above wind speed range 0.7 to 2.0 m/s.

The adsorption coefficients obtained from the evaluation of  $SO_2$  concentration effects provided the maximum allowable exposure periods for static monitoring devices. The sulfation rate remains linearly proportional to the ambient concentrations of sulfur dioxide during the maximum exposure periods. A conservative estimate of the

allowable exposure period using Matheson lead dioxide having a specific area of  $5.5 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$  was approximately  $3.5 \text{ months}^4$  for Huey plates and a little over a year for sulfation candles. The sulfation rates were found to differ significantly when the static devices were made from different grades of lead dioxide having different specific surface areas. Provided that the various laboratories in Alberta employ reagents having similar specific area, preferably those having the area in excess of  $5.5 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$ , consistent and reliable results can be obtained on long-term trends.

The evaluation of the turbidimetric method of sulfate analysis indicated that 15 mg/l sulfate in a solution was the minimum reproducible detection limit (MRDL) which corresponded to a sulfation rate of 0.1 mgSO<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/d averaged over a 30-day period. Since sulfation rates in Alberta have been generally lower than the MRDL, exposure periods of 3 months for the static monitoring devices are recommended. The sulfate analysis should be conducted at a pH of 1.5 to minimize the potential errors inherent in the analytical method. The method of preparation and analysis of sulfation candles and Huey plates as described in this report, should be adopted by various laboratories.

The field evaluations of the effect of shelter shape and shelter opening areas are based on limited data, but do reflect the need for standardization of shelter design. The practice of exposing Huey plates and sulfation candles in one shelter should be replaced with the Huey plates mounted in separate receptacles and sulfation candles in cubical shelters. The results of this study indicate Huey plates can be used for 3-month exposure periods and therefore provide an alternative to the use of candles. This fact needs to be evaluated further with additional field surveys conducted in a manner incorporating the above recommendations.

-1'V-

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to express his appreciation of the criticism, encouragement and guidance given by Dr. F. D. Otto in the successful completion of this Thesis.

The author gratefully acknowledges the assistance provided by the Alberta Department of the Environment; in particular, the Divisions of Pollution Control and Standards and Approvals who permitted the author to use the resources of the Department in producing this work. Special thanks are due to the Drafting Pool, Design and Constructic Section of the Department for their contribution in meeting the drafting needs of this manuscript.

Thanks are due to Mr. D. Sutherland of the Instrument Shop, K. Faulder of the Machine Shop and J. P. Moser of the analytical laboratory, all at the University of Alberta for assistance in their respective areas of expertise.

To Mrs. Bonnie Kupina of the Department, I express my sincere thanks for the conscientious and interested efforts she made in typing the manuscript.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>PAGE</u> viii

ix

1

List of Tables

List of Figures

# CHAPTER

INTRODUCTION

II	HIS	TORICAL BACKGROUND	4
•	2.1	Development of Lead Peroxide Method	6
	2.2	Development of Analytical Techniques	9.
2	2.1	Effect of Variables	13
		2.3.1 Effect of Humidity and Rainfall	13
		2.3.2 Effect of Sulfur Dioxide Concentration and Lead Dioxide Particle Size	15
	۰.	2.3.3 Effect of Temperature	20
		2.3.4 Effect of Wind Speeds and Shelter Geometry	21
III	THEC	RETICAL CONSIDERATIONS AND MASS TRANSFER MODELS	26
0.,	3'.1	Theoretical Considerations	26
	3.2	Mass Transfer Models	29
IV .	EXPE	RIMENTAL TECHNIQUES	20
	4.1	Apparatus	38 38
•		4.1.1 Exposure Tunnel	38
	. :	4.1.2 Exposure Box	41
		4.1.3 Sulfur Dioxide Monitoring Console	43
	•	4.1.4 Environmental Control Chambers	43
		4.1.5 Preparation of Lead Dioxide Candles and Plates	. 47 49

	31 V 19.4		
	V		
<u>(</u>	CHAPTE	-v11-	PAGE
•		4.2 Procedures	51
		4.2.1 Operating Procedures *-	51
		4.2.2 Analytical Procedures	53
	Ŷ	RESULTS	55
		5.1 Effect of Humidity	56
	•	5.2 Effect of Sulfur Dioxide Concentrations 5.3 Effect of Wind Speeds	59
<b>N</b>		<ul><li>5.3 Effect of Wind Speeds</li><li>5.4 Effect of Temperature</li></ul>	63 67
	. · ·	5.5 Validation of Mass Transfer Models	73
		5.6 Effect of Shelter Shape and Opening Areas	83
		5.7 Analytical Accuracy and pH Effects	• 89
		5.8 Minimum Reproducible Detection Limit	93
	۷I	DISCUSSION ,	97
ι.	VII	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	110
		NOMENCLATURE	114
		BIBLIOGRAPHY	117
		APPENDICES A Common Reference Exposure Station Results B Calibration Procedures C Mass Transfer Model Calculations	120 122 132

# LIST OF TABLES

1

Page

-viii-

Table

5.1	Experimental Data for Humidity Effects on Sulfation Rates of Two Types of Candles'	57
5.2	Experimental Data of Sulfur Dioxide Concentration Effects on Sulfation Rates of Two Types of Candles	62
5.3	Experimental Data of Velocity Effects on Sulfation Rates	65
5.4	Experimental Data of Temperature Effects on Sulfation Rates of Two Types of Candles	69
5.5	Repeated Experimental Data of Temperature Effects on Sulfation Rates	71
5.6	Predicted (Model-1) and Experimental Correlation Factors (C/W) and Sulfation Rates	<b>7</b> 6
5.7	Field Data on Sulfation Rates of Cylinders Versus Huey Plates Using Shelters of Varying Opening Areas	86
5.8	Accuracy Data of Turbidemetric Method	90
5.9	Determination of Spectrophotometer Calibration Curve Precision	94
A	Common Reference Exposure Station Results	120
B-1	Data for Calibration of Spectrophotometer	123
B-2	Calibration Data for Rotameters and Monitoring Console	131
B-3	Data for Man and Heat Transfer Correlations	136

	- <b>ix</b> -	
	LIST OF FIGURES	
		•
Figure		Page
1.0	Exposure Configurations of Lead Dioxide Pastes	7
2.0	hdrical Shelters	24
3.1	escription of the Two Models	30
4.1	Photograph and Top View of Wind Tunnel	39
4.2	Photograph and Schematic of Control Box	42
4.3	Photograph and Schematic of Sulfur Dioxide Monitoring Console Connected to Exposure System	<b>4</b> 4
4.4	Conductivity Cell of Sulfur Dioxide Monitor	46
4.5	Sulfur Dioxide Console Connected to Exposure Box	48
5.1	Effect of Humidity on Sulfation Rate of Candles	58
5.2	Effect of Gas Concentration on Sulfation Rate of Candle	es 61
5.3	Effect of Velocity on Sulfation Rates	66
5.4	Effect of Temperature on Sulfation Rates	72
5.5	Comparison of Predicted (Model-1) and Experimental Correlation Factors for Sulfation Candles	77
5.6	Comparison of Predicted (Model-1) and Experimental Correlation Factors for Flat-Glass Plates	78
5.7	Correlation of Predicted Versus Experimental Sulfation Rates	79
5.8	Comparison of Predicted and Experimental Sulfation Rates at Various SO <sub>2</sub> Concentrations	82
5.9	Effect of Shelter Opening on Sulfation Rate	87
5.10	Effect of Shelter Shape on Sulfation Rate	88
5.11	Precision Analysis of Spectrophotometer Calibration Curve	96
B-1	Spectrophotometer Calibration	124
B-2 B-3	Rotameter Calibration Mass and Heat Transfer Correlations	126 135

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

The lead peroxide method of estimating atmospheric sulfur. dioxide was first developed in England in 1932. The object was to provide a useful index of general pollution in an area by measuring long term levels of sulfur dioxide in the atmosphere. It was expected that the index may reflect the overall air quality and assist in determining the effect of polluted atmospheres in causing damage to vegetation, paints, corrosion of structures, respiratory complications in humans, and aerosol formation. A solid material was sought which reacted with sulfur dioxide in a predictable and uniform manner. The material finally chosen was lead peroxide; also known as lead dioxide.

Although more precise, automated instrumental techniques for ambient monitoring of sulfur dioxide are available today, the use of the lead dioxide method has increased considerably since its introduction by Wilsdon and McConnell [3]. The wide-spread use of the lead dioxide cylinders evolved due to the low cost of preparation and the practicality of unattended operation lasting a month or more at a time. The cylinders therefore, provide a tool that can be used to establish an inexpensive network of monitoring stations and to determine the long-term levels of atmospheric sulphur dioxide in a region. Information so obtained provides an indication of the air pollution problems associated with industrialization and population density. Except for slight modifications in the method of preparation, the cylinders used today are little different from those used originally, and little more is known of the factors that control their effectiveness. Further, lack of standardization of the technique has contributed to a low reliability of monitoring data. In 1974, a joint effort between the Alberta Department of the Environment and eleven other laboratories was initiated to determine the cause of inconsistencies in the reported data. Each agency prepared and analyzed its own cylinders which were exposed at a common-station site on a monthly basis throughout the year. Even though the cylinders from each laboratory were exposed at one site, the sulfation rates varied considerably and no reliable conclusions could be drawn to improve the accuracy of the technique. The data obtained at the common-station site is summarized in Appendix A.

In this work the common-station study was investigated further and significant differences were found in the method of cylinder preparation and analysis as practiced by various laboratories. The differences included using one calibration curve for the spectrophotometer to using a set of two curves, using different grades of lead dioxide with different specific surface areas, adjusting solutions to different pH levels before sulfate precipitation and the differences in analytical methods; turbidimetric versus gravimetric or

-

different sulfate precipitating reagents. A bias analysis of the common-station data was conducted using the Sign test. Of the twelve laboratories participating in the common-station study, three laboratories had supplied insufficient data, and four laboratories exhibited significant biases as shown in Appendix A. The remaining data could be questioned as well due to the above mentioned differences and poorly kept records of the practices followed by various laboratories. A need to initiate a new study to determine the effects of various parameters on sulfation rates, especially under controlled environmental conditions was obvious at this stage. This was confirmed further when a literature review indicated few studies conducted under controlled environmental conditions.

This work was undertaken to study the effects of temperature, humidity, wind speed and sulfur dioxide concentrations on sulfation rates of cylinders or plates made from lead dioxide having different particle sizes. A closed loop wind tunnel and several environmental control chambers were used to obtain the desired atmospheric conditions. In each experiment a continuous sulfur dioxide monitor was used to control gas concentrations at all times. The sulfation rates and the correlation factors obtained from this work are compared to the predicted results of models proposed by Liang et al. [14].

Other aspects of this investigation include a field study of the effects of ambient exposure conditions on sulfation rates of cylinders and Huey plates exposed simultaneously. The work includes an evaluation of the turbidimetric method of analysis for sulfates.

#### CHAPTER II

#### HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Historically, efforts have been made over 100 years to detect sulfur dioxide using solid reagents. In 1813, Brezelius and Marcet [1] first used lead dioxide as an adsorbent to separate sulfur dioxide and carbon dioxide. Russell and Smith [2] while studying the effects of metal oxides and hydroxides on the formation of sulfur trioxide, obtained some data on the adsorption of sulfur dioxide by the following substances:

> Lead Dioxide Copper Oxide Barium Dioxide Aluminum Hydroxide Manganese Dioxide Chromium Hydroxide Stannic Oxide Ferric Oxide Chromium Dioxide Ferric Hydroxide

Barium Hydroxide

Of these, the only substances that were capable of adsorbing essentially all of sulfur dioxide without promoting the formation of sulfur trioxide were lead dioxide, barium dioxide and aluminum hydroxide. With the exception of the reaction product formed by aluminum hydroxide, the products of reaction obtained with the other two compounds were essentially insoluble in water. In 1934, Wilsdon and McConnell [3] found that the rate of adsorption of sulfur dioxide by lead dioxide was nearly three times as great as by barium dioxide. The

·

experimental data indicated hardly any decrease in the rate of adsorption even when thirty percent of lead dioxide had been converted. This probably led to the selection of lead dioxide as the preferred adsorbent. However, due to the difficulties in maintaining constant concentrations of sulfur dioxide and introduction of other experimental errors, Wilson and McConnell estimated the upper limit of conversion of lead dioxide to fifteen percent and indicated that in this range of conversion the rate of adsorption was linearly proportional to the concentration of sulfur dioxide.

Wilsdon and McConnell were the first investigators to develop the "lead dioxide candle" technique which was subsequently adopted by the Pollution Research Committee of the Department of Scientific and Industrial Research (DSIR) in the United Kingdom. Wilsdon et al. worked on the lead candle method because the conventional methods employed at the time were not adaptable to wide-area monitoring of sulfur dioxide. The results of the monitoring were considered to provide an index for estimating overall 'pollution originating from burning of coal. The conventional methods involved aspiration of large volumes of ambient air through solutions of iodine or hydrogen peroxide followed by an analysis of absorbed sulfur dioxide.

Lead dioxide cylinders have been used extensively in England since their introduction. The use of cylinders in Canada was first recorded in air pollution investigations conducted between 1955 and 1957 at York, Redoubt, Halifax, Montreal, Ottawa, Saskatoon, Norman Wells and Trail [4]. The purpose of the investigations was to determine the suitability of the lead dioxide method for Canadian exposure conditions, to determine the factors affecting the variability

of the method, and possibly, establish a correlation factor with volumetric measurements. The results showed that the method was well suited to Canadian exposure conditions.

In the United States, similar use of the "candle method" has been made in atmospheric air pollution surveys in the 1950's. A survey in Nashville, Tennessee in 1958 to 1959 [5] involved the collection of 1400 sulfation candles at 119 sampling stations in a 12-month period. The study was directed towards answering such questions as (1) how long, (2) how frequently, (3) how many, and (4) where the candles should be installed to determine long-term air pollution trends. The Tennessee Valley Authority has used the lead candles method since 1954 [6] for monitoring the atmosphere near power plants. In this study [6], the discussion relates principally to practical field experiences, correlation of sulfation with recorded sulfur dioxide concentration and usefulness of data in appraising air pollution from industrial sources.

#### 2.1 Development of Lead Peroxide Method

The original lead peroxide method developed by Wilsdon and McConnell remains essentially unchanged today. A 10 by 10 cm piece of cotton gauze was wrapped around a porcelain cylinder and a thick paste; obtained by mixing lead dioxide, gum tragacanth and water, was applied to the gauze with a spatula. The lead candle so prepared was allowed to dry and then mounted on a post sheltered by a cowl to protect the candle from rain (Figure 1a). Later the DSIR replaced the



.

cowl with a cubical, louvered box which was considered a better shelter from rain (Figure 1b). Instead of sitting on the post, the candle is now capped into the ceiling of the louvered box.

In 1964, Bowden [7] proposed further simplification of the candle method. The modifications dispensed with the glazed porcelain cylinder and the standard tapestry cloth. The porcelain cylinder was replaced with a 'perspex rod knurled' cylinder on the grounds that the porcelain cylinder dimensions were subject to variations due to firing shrinkage. Cylinders of nearly standard dimensions were machined in perspex, the central portion being knurled before the ends were fixed. The knurled ends were made smooth by flowing chloroform over them. Bowden further suggested coating the surface of perspex cylinders directly without the tapestory cloth which may shrink irregularly after the reactive paste is dried. The cloth was also considered difficult to detach from the porcelain cylinder without incurring the loss of the reacted paste. Tragacanth gum was found unsatisfactory for sticking the paste directly on the perspex surface and was replaced with sodium methyl-carbonycellulose ('Polycell'). These modifications were aimed at reducing the preparation time when a large number of cylinders are to be handled. The alterations were not expected to give improved results. Bowden also replaced the cubical shelter with a cylinderical louvered box to minimize effects of shelter orientation on sulfation rates (Figure 1c).

In 1968, Huey [8] simplified the exposure system further and dispensed with the elaborate type of shelter necessary for lead dioxide cylinders, also known as candles. The new sampler is a

8 -

plastic petri dish of 4.8 cm 1.D., commonly known as a Huey plate. The plate is placed in a bracket mounted on a post or powerline pole in an upside-down position (Figure 1d), completely exposed to the atmosphere. The petri dish serves as the shelter, shipping container and lead dioxide support. The plate is prepared, for monitoring by coating its inside surface with lead dioxide paste and by drying it in the oven.

In 1969, Boulerice and Brabant [9] employed flat-glass plates for sulfation studies using a thin-layer chromatography applicator. This technique allowed the area and thickness of lead dioxide coatings to be controlled more accurately than the conventional method of preparing cylinders. Four plates, each with a 25 cm<sup>2</sup> coated area were attached to a wooden holder of a square-base prism shape. The system was then exposed in a regular shelter (Figure le). In some cases one or two of the four plates so mounted gave higher sulfation rates exhibiting the directional effects of prevailing winds. If the wind direction is not a consideration, the technique can be used to prepare only one glass plate 100 cm<sup>2</sup> coated with lead dioxide and set up vertically or horizontally in the regular candle shelter.

# 2.2 Development of Analytical Techniques

7

The usefulness of the lead dioxide candle as an economic device is hampered by the often tedious and time consuming gravimetric analysis of exposed candles as proposed originally [3]. In the original procedure [3], the exposed surface area is measured and the cotton fabric holding the paste stripped from the support and treated with sodium carbonate solution. The composite is allowed to stand for three hours while stiring it occasionally during this period.

The solution is then boiled for half an hour (30 minutes). Any loss of water during boiling is made up by the addition of distilled water. The hot solution is filtered with appropriate washings and the filtrate acidified with hydrochloric acid. The sulfate in the solution is precipitated by adding barium chloride. The precipitated barium sulfate is filtered, washed, ignited and weighed.

Efforts were made by various investigators to simplify the original method and to find more rapid alternate analytical techniques promjsing equal or better accuracy. In 1959, Kanno [10] used a colorimetric method instead of the gravimetric method and indicated that the colorimetric method was more accurate for concentrations as low as 1 mgS0<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/d. The increased accuracy would permit shorter exposure periods for candles. Kanno, however, did not provide any comparative data between the two methods. Further, concentrations in Alberta are even lower and the suggested accuracies would need to be evaluated at these concentrations. Bowden [7] employed acidimetry for the analysis of sulfates. Lead sulfate was converted to sulfuric acid by a cation-exchange resin and the filtrate titrated against standardized sodium hydroxide. The method claimed good success at higher sulfation levels, but only satisfactory results at low

and the second provide the second second the many providence and the second second second second second second

1

6.055

sulfation rates. The range of sulfation measured varied between 2-6  $mgSO_3/dm^2/d$ . The sulfation rates in Alberta are lower than this range. Rayner [11] converted the insoluble lead sulfate to soluble ammonium sulfate with ammonium carbonate and titrated the filtrate with barium perchlorate using thorin indicator. He indicated that the accuracy of this method is +10% for 10 mg sulfate. For 2 mg sulfate, the results were 20% high. Once again the suggested accuracies do not provide an significant advantage over the turbidimetric method used in this study. Huey [8] employed a turbidimetric procedure while Vijan [12] proposed a high temperature combustion method in which liberated sulfur dioxide was titrated using potassium iodate as a titrant. The rapid combustion method proposed by Vijan at best produced results that were as accurate as the gravimetric technique, although some reduction in time spent in the analysis is claimed. Carlson and Black [13] proposed an atomic absorption method based on the premise that lead sulfate is significantly more soluble than lead dioxide in ammonium acetate solution. The exposed gauze is stirred with ammonium acetate solution, followed by separation of solid/liquid contents and analysis of lead in the centrifugate by conventional atomic absorption technique.

The above developments have not significantly altered the original lead dioxide method. Some improvements such as mechanized preparation of coated surfaces or a switch to a more rapid and easier

analytical method or usage of low cost shelters have been adopted by some agencies; more so to cut the cost of monitoring than due to any expected improvement of results.

٩

In Alberta, both the sulfation candles and the Huey plates are used to monitor ambient concentrations of sulfur dioxide. Except for a few modifications, the lead dioxide candles are prepared in a similar manner to that used by Wilsdon and McConnell [3]. Instead of the porcelain cylinder used by Wilsdon et al., an 8 ounce glass jar having a 20 cm circumference is used in Alberta. A surgical gauze 5 cm in width is wrapped around the jar and provides the required surface area of 100 cm<sup>2</sup>. A lead dioxide paste, obtained by mixing the lead dioxide reagent with gum tragacanth and water, is applied to the gauze with a brush instead of a spatula. Application with the brush provides a smoother coated surface. The candle is dried at room temperature in a sulfur dioxide free atmosphere. The Huey plate is prepared as proposed originally by Huey [8] and the coated plates are dried at 50 to 55 degrees Celcius. The slow drying of candles at room temperature prevents development of cracks in dried paste. Huey plates being smaller in size, generally do not cause this problem. Currently, the lead dioxide reagents used in Alberta vary from one laboratory to another and a standardization of particle size or surface area is lacking. Different analytical procedures are used by various laboratories, some of which are less accurate than the others, thereby making a comparison of sulfation data difficult.

#### 2.3 Effect of Variables

A review of the literature indicated that a large number of studies evaluating the effects of different variables on the lead dioxide method were conducted under actual field conditions and largely, during the summer months. While such evaluations are essential, the effects of individual parameters and their relative influence on total sulfation measurements can be studied only under controlled experimental conditions. Only few such studies were conducted in the laboratory and those reported in the literature were found to be inconsistent and inconclusive. A summary of these studies conducted either in a laboratory or under actual field conditions is presented below.

#### 2.3.1 Effect of Humidity and Rainfall

In a field study conducted at the City of Leicester [25], the effects of relative humidity on reactivity were evaluated using data obtained at four stations over a period of 22 months. The humidity data was obtained from meteorological measurements. The reactivity was defined as the rate of production of sulfate divided by ambient concentration of sulfur dioxide,  $(mgSO_3/dm^2/day)/ppm$ , and is the reciprocal of the correlation factors commonly used in the literature.to relate sulfation rate with ambient concentrations of sulfur dioxide. The Leicester study did not indicate any significant correlation between relative humidity and reactivity. The effects of rainfall on reactivity were, however, found to be significant. Observations over a 26-month period indicated a correlation of +0.64 with reactivity. The sulfation candles used in this study were partially protected from rain by a cowl open on its sides, as shown in Figure 1a, and the

candles were found to become at least partially wet. The quantity of rainfall was measured in inches per month. In the same study laboratory tests were simulated to compare the reactivity of dry and wet lead dioxide cylinders. The cylinders were kept wet by a wick dipped in a beaker of distilled water. Although the wetness of the candles could not be maintained constant, the laboratory tests established that the wet candles adsorbed 10% to 90% more sulphur dioxide than the dry candles. However, since the rain would also reduce the concentration of sulfur dioxide in the ambient air, the study concluded that rain affected the ambient concentrations of sulfur dioxide and the reactivity of sulfation candles in opposite directions. The cowls were, therefore, replaced by a louvered box for better protection of candles from rain. Foran et al. [4], in their field study at the Trail site, did not find a correlation between rainfall and reactivity even though the sulfation candles in this study were also protected by cowls, similar to those used in the Leicester study. The Trail site study was conducted over a two year period to determine the suitability of the lead dioxide method to Canadian exposure conditions. The apparent anomaly in the effects of rainfall on reactivity at Leicester and Trail sites was explained with the supposition that the Trail site is not subject to driving rains as are the sites in the United Kingdom. Newall and Eaves [32] in a field study in London, also found lack of any correlation related to rainfall. Rider et al. [29] in their laboratory study evaluated the effects of 0%, 50%, and 100% humidity on Huey plates by adjusting relative humidity in a dessicator. They concluded that although the sulfation rates did not change with humidity, the capacity of the plate to adsorb sulfur dioxide appeared to increase with the effects.

of sulfation not occurring until a longer exposure period elapses. The amount of sulfation showed a marked increase at 50% and 100% humidity after long exposure periods. This was attributed to the possibility that humidity forms a water layer which slightly dissolves the lead sulfate at the surface, thereby exposing fresh lead dioxide for reaction. Although the suggested mechanism has not been confirmed, their findings confirm that wetness of the paste due to condensation of water vapour on the paste surface promotes the reactivity, but without condensation, the relative humidity has no effect on the sulfation rate of the lead dioxide candles.

# 2.3.2 Effect of the Sulfur Dioxide Concentration and the Lead Dioxide Particle Size

Wilsdon and McConnell [3] conducted experiments in a small wind tunnel to estimate the range of proportionality between the rate of adsorption and the concentration of sulfur dioxide. The porcelain base cylinders were placed in the tunnel and a stream of air containing known concentrations of sulfur dioxide was passed at a velocity of approximately 0.25 cm/s. The data was obtained at 40, 189 and 666 ppm of sulfur dioxide, with exposure times varying between 6 to 24 hours. The rate of formation of lead sulfate, W, mgSO<sub>3</sub> per 100 sq cm per day for a given concentration, C, was expressed as

C = KW ...Equation 2.1

where C is in ppm and K, was shown to be independent of sulfur dioxide concentrations up to 1000 ppm.

Wilsdon et al. estimated that the rate of adsorption remained approximately linear even when as much as 15% of the lead dioxide had been converted. This corresponds to a mean daily rate of sulfation of 13 mgSO<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/day [4] for a standard cylinder exposed for one month. This sulfation rate is much higher than the commonly encountered sulfation rate of less than 0.3 mgSO<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/d in Alberta [28]. The concentrations of sulfur dioxide used in their experiments were hundreds of times greater than those prevalent generally in the atmosphere. Further, the studies did not consider the effects of particle size on sulfation rates or on percentage conversion of lead dioxide during which the adsorption rate would remain linear for a known gaseous concentration.

Foran et al. [4] in their field study attempted to determine the value of K by monitoring ambient sulfur dioxide concentrations with a Thomas Autometer, which was operated at the same site as the sulfation candles. The proportionality constant K is commonly referred to as the correlation factor. The autometer readings in ppm of sulfur dioxide were plotted against the sulfation rate in  $mgSO_3/dm^2/d$  and the slope of the line was determined to be 0.028, with 95% confidence limit of  $\pm 0.002$ . Foran et al. assumed that climatic conditions at other exposure sites would not affect the correlation factor K any differently than at the Trail site and therefore concluded that ambient concentration of sulfur dioxide correlates very closely with the sulfation rate obtained by the lead dioxide method. However, the study conducted in the City of Leicester [25] indicated that the correlation factors are site specific and vary between 0.01 and 0.04. Thomas and Davidson [6] found considerable scatter and relatively low degree of correlation between the sulfation candles and six autometers

operated in a region having low ambient sulfur dioxide concentrations. The lack of correlation was also attributed to inherent wide variations in estimating such concentrations from autometer charts. However, in another area, having moderate or average concentration of sulfur dioxide of approximately 0.02 ppm or greater, Thomas et al. found a high degree of correlation between the sulfation rate and gaseous concentrations. Stalker et al. [33] found that the correlation factor also varies with the type of chemical method used to determine the ambient sulfur dioxide concentrations. The sulfur dioxide concentrations were determined both by the tetrachloromercurate (TCM) procedure described by West and Gaeke [34] and the Thomas Autometer. The autometer measurements of sulfur dioxide were two to three times higher than the TCM measurements. The reason for the higher autometer readings was most likely the response of this instrument to other acidic pollutants such as hydrogen sulfide or mitrogen oxides in addition to sulfur dioxide present in the atmosphere. Stalker et al. expressed the opinion that, based upon their over-all experience, the candle method is a good procedure for estimating mean sulfur dioxide levels in communities which have mean gaseous concentration of at least 0.025 ppm. The reliability of these mean estimates would probably be in the order of +25%.

3

The above mentioned studies [4, 6, 25, 34] at first appear to indicate contradictory conclusions reached by these authors. However, if the premise of correlation factors being site specific is accepted, then lack of correlation in a region with lower ambien yaseous concentrations may be simply due to the insensitivity of the analytical methods used in determining gaseous concentrations, especially if different analytical methods give different sulfation rates or gaseous

. 17

concentrations as pointed out by Stalker et al. [33]. These studies did not consider the effect of lead dioxide particle size on the rate of sulfation. Since the particle size effects were found to be significant [24], Hickey and Hendrickson [24] attempted to provide a design basis for the lead dioxide cylinders. According to their design, the rate of sulfation would remain linear for ambient concentrations of sulfur dioxide provided the cylinders were made with lead dioxide of certain particle size or surface area. Conversely, if the surface area of the adsorbent is known, a maximum allowable exposure period for the cylinders could be calculated such that the sulfation rate would remain linear for the estimated ambient concentrations of sulfur dioxide. The term "critical loading percentage" (CLP), was used to determine the percentage conversion of lead dioxide of specific surface area for which the rate of sulfation remained linear corresponding to a known gaseous concentration. Such information could provide not only a consistent basis for sulfation candle preparation but may also provide consistency in the determination of correlation factors -- Hickey et al. indicated that in many cases, Foran et al's. data [4] at the Halifax Federal Building had exceeded the critical loading percentage and the lower estimates of sulfur dioxide concentrations were due to the attenuation of sulfation rates at the saturated surfaces.

In deriving the design equation, Hickey et al. proposed that if each cylinder was to contain a conservative amount of seven grams (usually eight grams) of lead dioxide, then 100% adsorption would amount to

(7) (64060)/239.21 = 1873 mgSO<sub>2</sub>

٠.\*

where 239.21 = molecular weight of lead dioxide, and 64.06 = molecular weight of sulfur dioxide.

Then, the design equation that would maintain the rate of adsorption linear with sulfur dioxide concentration and show the effect of particle size, gaseous concentration and exposure time can be expressed as

MC = (1873) (P)/(Q) 100

...Equation 2.2

where M = time of exposure, days

decreased.

C = concentration of sulfur dioxide, ppm

P = critical loading percentage, %

Q = adsorption coefficient, mgSO<sub>2</sub>/ppm/day

The adsorption coefficient can be determined from experiments or previous surveys. This sequation would also be applicable to Huey plates or other flat plates. Should the amount of lead dioxide used for cylinders or plates be different than the assumed 7 grams, the amount of sulfur dioxide adsorbed at 100% conversion can be recalculated and substituted in equation 2.2. The cylinders designed and exposed for periods permissible by equation 2.2 would continue to form the sulfation product with the rate of sulfation remaining linearly proportional to the ambient concentration of sulfur dioxide, unlike the data collected at the Halifax Federal Building [4] where some of the cylinders were saturated and the rate of sulfation had

## 2.3.3 Effect of Temperature

The effect of temperature on sulfation rate of candles has been, generally considered to be insignificant even though only one of the studies actually conducted an experimental evaluation of this parameter. Wilsdon and McConnell [3] expected a slight increase in reactivity with rise in temperature. This was based on a model describing the absorption of soluble gases in cylindrical liquid films with an expression of the form, for mass transfer coefficient,

# $Sh_{avg} = f(Re)0.8$

...Equation 2.3

The mass transfer coefficient in equation 2.3 has the samedimensions as 1/K in equation 2.1, ML-2T-1. Equation 2.3 was used to estimate any temperature effects on the sulfation reaction. The gas density and viscosity were expressed as functions of temperature of the form  $\rho = \rho_0 (1 + \alpha_1 t')$  and  $\mu = \mu_0 (1 + \alpha_2 t')$ , respectively.  $^{\alpha}$  1,  $^{\alpha}$  2 are numerical constants and t is the temperature in degree Celcius. The density function is incorrect since the density of a gas decreases with an increase in temperature. Therefore, when the corrected density function,  $\rho = \rho_0/(1 + \alpha_2 t)$ , is substituted in equation 2.3, the increase in reactivity for an increase in temperature of 1°C was recalculated to be 0.02% instead of 0.4% deduced by Wilsdon et al. This increase in reactivity as a function of temperature is insignificant. Since many other investigators have cited Wilsdon et work, the temperature dependence needs to be re-evaluated al's. further.

Hickey and Hendrickson [24] conducted a few experiments at 25°C and at 45°C to determine the effect of temperature on sulfation rate. A 125 ml Erlenmeyer flask was used as the reaction vessel containing

known amounts of lead dioxide, and sulfur dioxide was injected with a syringe. The exposure time was 5 minutes in all cases. Since the reaction is exothermic, it was difficult to maintain constant temperature. Tests were repeated three times at each of the two temperatures and no significant temperature effects were observed.

The literature survey did not reveal any similar evaluations at sub-zero temperatures under controlled laboratory conditions. There were, however, field surveys [5, 25, 33] which indicated that the sulfation rates in winter months were greater than those obtained in the summer. This was believed to be due more to the stabler atmospheric conditions in winter which would attenuate the rapid dispersion of sulfur dioxide and result in relatively higher ambient concentrations of the gas. The limited data of Hickey et al. combined with the lack of studies at colder temperatures indicates a need to evaluate the temperature effects over a broader temperature range.

2.3.4 Effect of Wind Speeds and Shelter Geometry

The effect of wind speeds on the candle reactivity was first determined by Wilsdon and McConnell [3] who exposed the lead dioxide candles in a wind tunnel at sulfur dioxide concentrations ranging between 34 to 666 ppm. The gas velocities varied between 0.3 to 30 cm/s. A logarithmic plot of the correlation factor K (equation 2.1) and wind speeds indicated that K varied inversely as the fourth root of wind velocity, that is,

 $\frac{W}{C} = \frac{1}{K} = \text{constant X U0.25}$ 

...Equation 2.4

However, wind tunnel experiments conducted later by the Department of Scientific and Industrial Research (DSIR) [35] indicated that the reactivity was not significantly dependent on wind speed. In these tests, the sulfur dioxide concentrations in the wind tunnel were maintained between 1.0 to 6.0 ppm with the wind speeds ranging between 1.5 to 9 m/s. These findings of the DSIR were substantiated further by a field survey conducted in the City of Leicester [25]. The survey was conducted over a 26 month period at four central stations in the City of Leicester and did not show any significant effects of wind speeds on the reactivity of the candles. The candles in this survey were partially protected from rain by a cowl of standard dimensions as shown in Figure 1a. The atmospheric wind speeds ranged between 0.3 to 18 m/s.

However, contrary to the findings mentioned above, the field data obtained by Lawrence [36] indicated that reactivity was a function of wind speeds according to the following power law equation. The field data was obtained by exposing the sulfation candles in a louvered cubical shelter. The wind speeds in this survey varied between 0.3 to 0.9 m/s.

$$\frac{W}{M} = Constant X U0.55$$

...Equation 2.5

Lawrence [26] showed further that the shelter geometry also affected the sulfation rates of candles. A cubical and a cylindrical shelter were placed, in turn, in a wind tunnel and for a given external wind speed in the wind tunnel, the air flow inside the shelter was measured with an anemometer. The tests showed that for a given external wind speed, the percent transmission of air through the cylindrical shelter was greater than for the cubical shelter, resulting in approximately 10% to 20% greater sulfation rate for the cylindrical shelter. This finding was confirmed by Bowden [7] in a field survey which indicated that sulfation rates were 20% greater in the cylindrical shelter.

Lawrence's results also showed that the percent transmission of air through the cubical shelter was a function of the shelter orjentation with respect to the external wind direction. With unsymmetrical wind distribution such as may occur in a valley, the sulfation measurement in a cubical shelter could be affected by the melter orientation. Orientation errors may even occur at many urban sites, although to a lesser degree. In the present study, the comparison of the two shelters was made in a field survey as discussed in Chapter 5. There was, however, a difference in the design of the cylindrical shelter used in this study and that used by Lawrence [26]. The cylindrical shelter used by Lawrence was made by placing three posts symmetrically (Figure 2a) with the screen louvres wrapped around these posts at different heights. The space between successive layers of the louvres was completely open except where the louvres were connected to the post. In contrast, the cylindrical shelter used in the present study was a cylindrical sheet metal box with randomly punched slits for passage of air (Figure 2b). For experimental purposes, the number and size of the slits was such that the total opening area of the cylindrical shelter was approximately equal to the opening area of the cubical cylinder. A schematic of the cubical shelter is shown in Figure 1b.

and the state of the second states in the second

.





TOP VIEW TOP VIEW • : 

walker in FIG. 2 CYLINDRICAL SHELTERS 

· · · · .

\_

. 5 g • • •

A province and the

· • • • Although any effect of wind speed variations was expected to be reflected in the sulfation rate, whether these variations affected the ambient concentrations of sulfur dioxide was first evaluated by Newall and Eaves [32]. They reviewed the ambient monitored concentrations of sulfur dioxide for the months of November to February during the years 1956 to 1960. The data was obtained during various atmospheric pollution surveys in England. The wind data, obtained at a meteorological station, was divided into four ranges and for each range of wind speed, the corresponding average concentration of sulfur dioxide was obtained. The data plots indicated that the average daily concentration of sulfur dioxide was an inverse function of wind speed but the effect was far less marked at wind speeds above than below 2.5 m/s.

The works cited in the previous sections indicate inconsistencies in the conclusions drawn by various investigators independent of whether the tests were conducted in the laboratory or in the field. The problem is complicated further since most of the data cited in the literature were obtained with methods of varying accuracy in measuring sulfation rates or gaseous concentrations or variations in the locations of wind speed monitors. Further, the effect of individual parameters on sulfation rates appears to be different under laboratory conditions than in the field. In the field, the sulfation rate of candles is under a multiple effect of various parameters as compared to singular parameter evaluations conducted in the laboratory. However, due to the conflicting conclusions reached in the literature, insufficient data in somes cases; and failure to obtain comparable data in the common station study done in Alberta, it was decided to re-study these singular effects in the laboratory so that their relative significance under the field conditions could be estimated. The present study was extended to include an evaluation of the turbidimetric method and its limitations.
### CHAPTER III

# THEORETICAL CONSIDERATIONS AND MASS TRANSFER MODELS

3.1 Theoretical Considerations: Measurement of sulfur dioxide in air is based on the facility. with which the gas combines with solid lead dioxide to form lead sulfate, the exothermic reaction being  $Pb0_2 + S0_2 = PbS0_4$ •••Equation 3.1 . . . . . The free energies of formation [15] of Pb02, S02 and PbSO4 are -52.34, -71.79 and -193.89 kilocalories per mole respectively. Thus, from  $\Delta \dot{G} = \Sigma \Delta G$  products -  $\Sigma \Delta G$  reactants we have ...Equation 3.2  $\Delta$  G = (-193.89) - [(-52.34) + (-71.79)] = -69.76 indicating that the reaction could proceed spontaneously. The Arrhenius equation, k = B e - E/RTwhere ...Equation 3.3 k = reaction velocity constant T = absolute temperature E = energy of activationR = gas constantB = frequency factor indicates that reaction velocity should be a function of temperature.

If k can be determined at a minimum of two temperatures, the activation energy can be estimated [15] from the slope of the straight line obtained by plotting log k versus 1/T since the frequency factor B is related to the specific surface area. Its value increases with increase in area and in simple cases is proportional to the specific surface area [18].

In gas-solid heterogeneous reactions, since one reactant is in the solid phase and is consumed, the rate of reaction varies with time. In many types a solid product builds up around the reacting core. For some cases the rate of reaction at the interface may be rate controlling whereas in others, the rate of diffusion of one or the other of the reactants through the product layer may become rate controlling. Pilling and Bedsworth [16] illustrate the different rate controlling steps in their work on the classification of metals into two groups with respect to formation of oxides. Bikerman [17] summarized part of their findings as follows:

If a unit volume of metal is transformed into oxide, the number of gram-atoms consumed is  $\rho_1/M_1$ , if  $\rho_1$ , is the density of the metal and M<sub>1</sub> is its atomic weight. If the oxide molecule contains n atoms of the metal,  $\rho_1/nM_1$  moles of oxide are formed. If the density of the oxide is  $\rho_2$  and its molecular weight is M<sub>2</sub>, the the volume of oxide formed is  $\rho_1M_2/n\rho_2M_1$ : If  $\rho_1M_2/n\rho_2M_1$  is greater than unity, the oxide occupies a larger volume than the metal from which it originated; otherwise oxidation involves contraction. For potassium, sodium, calcium, barium and magnesium the ratio  $\rho 1^{M_2/n_p} 2^{M_1}$ , ranged from 0.41 to 0.79, indicating that a porous or discontinuous coating is formed [16]. The rate of corrosion for these metals was found to be constant. However, for metals such as cadmium, aluminum, zinc, tin, lead, and tungsten the volume ratio of oxide to metal ranged from 1.21 to 3.59. This partly explains the protective nature of oxide films such as the oxide on aluminum.

In the formation of lead sulfate from lead dioxide and sulfur · dioxide, the volume ratio of solid product to solid reactant is

 $\frac{(9.375) (303.27)}{(1) (6.2) (239.21)} = 1.92$ 

...Equation 3.4

where, 303.27, 239.21 are the molecular weights of the solid product and the reactant, and 6.2 and 9.375 are their respective densities. Therefore, it might be expected that the sulfation reaction could be categorized with the metals forming protective films. This may, in a general way, account for the finding [3] that adsorption of sulfur dioxide by lead dioxide was proportional to the gas concentration until some certain percentage of the lead dioxide had reacted. This could mean that the mechanism of adsorption or rate controlling step changes as adsorption proceeds.

Although experiments conducted in this study were not designed to evaluate the kinetics of the lead dioxide reaction with sulfur dioxide, the experimental data obtained in this study was used to determine the predominant rate controlling step. The experimentally determined rate of sulfation is compared with that determined from two different models [14]. In the first model, the mass transfer rate is calculated from the gas phase resistance alone whereas in the second case, the diffusion resistance in the gel phase is assumed to be rate controlling. The experimental data was also used to evaluate the effects of temperature using the Arrhenius expression.

### 3.2 Mass Transfer Models:

# Model 1 - Gas Phase Resistance Controlling

A pictorial representation of this model is shown in Figure 3.1.

( i) the gas phase resistance is the only contro ling resistance, ( ii) the lead dioxide particles are dispersed uniformly in the gel phase.

- (iii) the gel phase is very thin such that all the lead dioxide particles are exposed at the gel surface,
  - (iv) the gel surface has an infinite capacity to adsorb sulfur dioxide over the test period since, in actual sampling, only a small fraction of the lead dioxide is converted,
  - (v) the reaction rate is very fast such that the concentration of sulfur dioxide at the gel surface is zero over the test period, and
  - (vi) the rate of mass transfer for the Huey plate is equivalent to that of mass transfer in a flat plate of similar dimensions.



FIGURE 3.1 DESCRIPTION OF THE TWO MODELS.

Based on the above assumptions, a steady state mass transfer correlation for forced convection can be applied to determine the rate of sulfation in a Huey plate. For a fluid flowing past a surface, the flux at steady state is given by,

$$N_A = k_C \Delta C_A = -\frac{DdC_A}{dy} \bigg| y = U$$

...Equation 3.5

3

where  $N_A = mass flux$ , moles/cm<sup>2</sup>/s

 $k_{\rm C}$  = convective mass transfer coefficient, cm/s

and  $\Delta C_A$  = concentration gradient, mole/cm<sup>3</sup>

By solving the concentration variation term of equation 3.5 [37], a dimensionless expression of the following form is obtained

$$\frac{k_{cx}}{D} = Sh_{x} = 0.332 Re_{x}^{1/2} Sc^{1/3}$$

...Equation 3.6

The average mass transfer coefficient over a plate of width b and length  $\ell$ , is obtained by integration. For a plate of these dimensions, the total mass transfer rate  $W_A$ , may be evaluated by

$$W_A = \tilde{k}_C A(C_A - C_{A,0}) = \int k_C(C_A - C_{A,0}) dA$$

and from equation 3.6,

=  $k_{C}$  be  $(C_{A} - C_{A,0})$ 

$$W_{A} = b \int_{O}^{L} \frac{D (C_{A} - C_{A,0}) Sh_{X}}{x} dx$$

Therefore, 
$$\overline{k}_{C}$$
  $(C_{A} - C_{A}, 0) = \int_{U}^{L} \frac{D(C_{A} - C_{A}, 0) Sh_{X}}{x} dx$ 

...Equation 3.7

Comparing equations 3.5 and 3.7, the rate of mass transfer in a Huey plate is given by:

$$N_A = W_1 = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_0^{\epsilon} \frac{D(C_A - C_{A,0}) Sh_x}{x} dx$$

...Equation 3.8

where

 $W_1$  = amount of sulfation, mole/cm<sup>2</sup>/s D = diffusivity of SO<sub>2</sub> in air, cm<sup>2</sup>/s  $\epsilon$  = length of Huey Plate (diameter of disc), cm  $C_A$ ,  $C_A$ , O = SO<sub>2</sub> concentration in air and at gel surface, respectively, mole/cm

In the above equation, Sh<sub>X</sub> is the dimensionless Sherwood number for flow past a flat plate and is approximated by,

 $Sh_x = 0.332 \text{ Re}_x \frac{1/2}{2} Sc^{1/3}$  for  $Re_x < 2 \times 10^5$ 

=  $0.296 \text{Re}_{X} 0.8 \text{ sc}^{1/3}$  for  $\text{Re}_{X} > 2 \times 10^5$ 

...Equation 3.9

### where

U

ν

 $Re_{x} = U x / v$ , Sc = v /D

= average wind velocity, cm/sec

= kinematic viscosity of air, cm<sup>2</sup>/sec

In the case of the reactive candle, the rate of mass transfer is given by:

$$\sqrt{1} = (C_A - C_{A,O}) D Sh_d/d$$

... Equation 3.10

where d = diameter of candle, cm.

The dimensionless Sherwood number, Sh<sub>d</sub>, for flow past a short cylinder can be estimated by the following equation [20].

$$Sh_{d} = \frac{2}{\left(\frac{d}{2H} + 1\right) \ln \left(1 + \frac{2H}{d}\right)} + 0.6Sc^{1/3} Re_{d}^{1/2}$$

...Equation 3.11

where

$$Re_d = \hat{U} d/v$$

H = height of the reactive candle, cm

The correlation factor, C/W, can be obtained by substituting equations 3.9 and 3.11 into equations 3.8 and 3.10 respectively.

Integration of equation 3.5 for laminar flow is given by,

,.

$$W_1 = \frac{0.332 \text{ D } C_A \text{ Sc}^{1/3}}{r} \int_0^r \frac{\text{Re}_x^{1/2}}{x} dx$$

$$= \frac{0.664 \text{ D } C_{\text{A}} \text{ Sc}^{1/3} \text{ Re}_{\text{g}}^{1/2}}{\text{g}}$$

Conversion of units of  $W_1$  and  $C_A$  to those of W and C, results in the following equations:

Huey Plate

$$W = C \frac{55.94 \text{ X } 10^2 \text{ D } \text{ Sc}^{1/3} \text{ Re}_{\ell}^{1/2}}{T_{A}^{\ell}}$$

for 
$$\operatorname{Re}_{\ell}$$
 < 2 X 10<sup>5</sup>

$$= C \frac{311.69 \text{ D } \text{Sc}^{1/3} \text{ Re}_{\text{g}}^{0.8}}{T_{\text{A}}^{\text{g}}}$$

for  $Re_{g} > 2 \times 10^{5}$ 

...Equation 3.12

### Reactive Candle

$$W = C = \frac{84.24 \times 10^2 D Sh_d}{T_A d}$$

...Equation 3.13

#### where

W  $\cdot$  = amount of sulfation, mgSO<sub>3</sub>/ dm<sup>2</sup>/d

C = average ambient  $SO_2$  concentration, ppm

 $T_A$  = absolute ambient temperature, °K

 $Re_{\ell} = U\ell/v$ 

Model 2: Gel Phase Diffusion Resistance Controlling

This model is also described in Figure 3.1. The lead dioxide particles are again assumed to be uniformly distributed in the gel phase and the gel phase is assumed to have a finite thickness. The sulfation reaction is assumed to occur in the gel phase during the test period. In addition, the model assumes that

- ( i) there is no fluid motion in the gel phase,
- ( ii) the gas phase resistance is negligible since the effective sulfur dioxide diffusivity inside the gel phase is much smaller than the gas phase diffusivity.
- (iii) during the test period, all the lead dioxide particles between the gel surface, Z=O, and the moving reaction front inside the gel phase at  $Z = Z_{f(t)}$ , are converted to lead sulfate and sulfur dioxide would be required to diffuse through this layer to react with the fresh particles at the reaction front.

Therefore, Fick's second law of diffusion can be used to describe the mass transfer of sulfur dioxide inside the gel phase and the applicable boundary conditions are given below:

$$\frac{\partial C_A}{\partial t} = D_{eff} \frac{\partial^2 C_A}{\partial Z^2}$$

...Equation 3.14

I.C. at t < 0,  $C_A = 0$  for all Z > 0

...Equation 3.15

B.C. at  $t \ge 0$ ,  $C_A = \overline{C}_A$  at Z = 0

•••Equation 3.16

$$C_A = 0$$
 at  $Z = Z_f(t)$ 

•••Equation 3.17

...Equation 3.18

In the above equation  $D_{eff}$  is the effective diffusivity of sulfur dioxide in the porous gel and  $C_B$  is the initial lead peroxide concentration in the gel, mole/L. In addition,  $\overline{C}_A$  is the average sulfur dioxide concentration at the gel phase (Z = 0), which is the same as the bulk sulfur dioxide concentration in air since the gas phase resistance is neglected.

36

 $-D_{eff} = C_B \frac{dZ_f(t)}{dt}$  at  $Z = Z_f(t)$ 

Equation 3.14 was solved as described in [30], and has the following solution:

$$C_{A} = \overline{C}_{A} \left\{ 1 - \frac{1}{erf\sqrt{\alpha/D_{eff}}} erf\left[\frac{Z}{\sqrt{4D_{eff}}t}\right] \right\}$$

... Equation 3.19

where the parameter  $\alpha$  is determined by

 $C_{B}\sqrt{\pi \alpha/D_{eff}} \cdot erf\sqrt{\alpha/D_{eff}} = C_{A} \exp(-\alpha/D_{eff})$ 

...Equation 3.20

From the concentration profiles of equation 3.19 [30], the average rate of sulfation can be calculated over the test period  $\tau$ .

 $W = 4.7 \times 106 C_B \sqrt{\alpha / \tau}$ 

...Equation 3.21

where the right hand side of equation 3.20 is multiplied by the conversion factor 4.7 X 10<sup>6</sup> to get the units of W, the rate of sulfation. The conversion factor includes a multiple of 2 to indicate that average rate up to time  $\tau$  (days), is twice the instantaneous rate. In equation 3.20, the value of C<sub>A</sub>/C<sub>B</sub> is generally less than 10<sup>-6</sup>, hence, the value of  $\alpha$ /D<sub>eff</sub> is less than 0.01, and then equation 3.20 can be simplified by employing series expansion of the exponential terms and integration of the error function, to a first term approximation as given by,

 $\alpha = \frac{\text{Deff } C_A}{1.13 C_H \sqrt{\pi}}$ 

Hence,

W = 4.7 X 106  $\sqrt{D_{eff} C_A C_B / 1.13 \sqrt{\pi} \tau}$ 

...Equation 3.23

...Equation 3.22

### EXPERIMENTAL TECHNIQUES

CHAPTER IV

38

The apparatus used in this study consisted of four major pieces of equipment: exposure tunnel, exposure box, sulfur dioxide monitoring console and environmental control chambers. The details of each piece of equipment and its purpose in this study is described below.

#### 4.1.1 Exposure Tunnel

4.1

Apparatus

A closed-loop exposure tunnel was designed and constructed to study the effect of wind speed on the sulfation rate of lead dioxide cylinders and flat-plates. A photograph and a schematic of the tunnel is shown in Figure 4.1.

The tunnel was constructed from sheet metal except for the test section which was made of plexiglass. The tunnel cross section was about 0.09 m<sup>2</sup> (1 ft<sup>2</sup>) with the straight sections being 2.9 m long. Air and gas mixture was recirculated with an aluminum fan. Flow straighteners of egg-crate shape 23 cm (9 in.) deep and 7.6 cm X 7.6 cm (3 in. X 3 in.) in cross-section, were installed before the test section. The tunnel was installed in an ordinary room and all experiments conducted with it were at room temperature.

Wind speed was varied by changing the fan speed and by adjusting the damper to a predetermined setting. The fan speed was controlled



WARIABLE SPEED SO FEED LINE 35.6 cm TO DAVIS MONITOR DAMPER 23 cm ε ~ 45.7 cm 23 cm - 30 cm GAS VENT THROUGH WATER COLUMN 2 PLEXIGLASS TEST SECTION Ŷ THERMOMETER MANOMETER ¥. 2.9 m

FIGURE 4.1 PHOTOGRAPH & TOP VIEW OF WIND TUNNEL

an an an an an a' 🔒

2

by a 3/4 HP Impact V \* S Drive coupled with a 1/3 HP, 1725 RPM electric motor, both manufactured by Reliance Electric Company. Wind speeds up to 30 km/h could be generated in the exposure tunnel. The tunnel was calibrated for wind speeds corresponding to various "drive settings" before conducting any experimental runs and the calibration was not repeated during testing. During the calibration the top plate of the test section was replaced with a perforated plate having a set of openings across the width of the tunnel. Only one opening at a time was used to insert the probe of a hot wire anemometer for measurement of wind velocity at a predetermined setting, while the remainder of the openings were covered with a masking tape. The velocities were measured at the mid-point depth of the tunnel to correspond to the mid-point of the lead dioxide gauze on the test cylinders. When using the flat plates, the base height was raised to the mid-point levels in the test section. Wind velocities were measured across the cross section and a region with small velocity variations was selected to place the test plates and cylinders. The velocities in this region did not vary by more than ten percent.

A mixture of sulfur dioxide and air was fed in the cavity of the fan as shown in Figure 4.1. Excess mixture of the gases was vented through a two inch column of water, which was also the pressure maintained in the tunnel during all experiments. The gaseous mixture was made in the sulfur dioxide monitoring console and pumped into the tunnel. A water manometer was installed on the tunnel to indicate gas pressures in the tunnel. A large pressure build-up, more than approximately four inches of water was avoided so as to prevent leakage of gases through the fan-axle bearings. An elephant hose was placed on top of the bearing to vent any leaked gases to the building vent system. A teflon sample line from the tunnel to the analyser provided a continuous check on sulfur dioxide concentrations. These measures provided a closed-loop, dynamically controlled, well-mixed gaseous mixture that could be made to flow past the cylinders at the desired wind speeds.

### 4.1.2 Exposure Box

The exposure box was a modified version of a "Fisher Isolator Lab" as shown in Figure 4.2. The box is mounted on a stand with rollers and could be wheeled into or out of environmental chambers. The exposure box was used to study the effects of humidity, temperature and concentration of sulfur dioxide on the sulfation rate of candles, which were made of lead dioxide particles of two sizes.

The exposure box was equipped with a 1/200 HP blower motor installed on its inside wall. The blower fan had a baffle plate mounted at its immediate outlet to prevent direct blowing of gases on the cylinders placed inside the box. During the experimental runs, the cylinders were located approximately two feet away from the blower outlet towards the opposite end of the box. A flow profile inside the box was made using a hot wire anemometer and the cylinders were placed at locations where the measured velocities varied from 10.1 to 25.4 cm/s.

A mixture of sulfur dioxide and air was pumped into the box near the blower fan location as shown in Figure 4.2. Excess mixture of the gases was vented through a column of water. Sulfur dioxide concentrations were continuously monitored by withdrawing a sample of gases through a 0.6 cm (1/4 in.) 90° elbow made of stainless steel tubing.

- - 41



FIGURE 4.2 PHOTOGRAPH AND SCHEMATIC OF CONTROL BOX

4.1.3 Sulfur Dioxide Monitoring Console

The console was used to generate, control and monitor the various concentrations of sulfur dioxide required in different experiments. It may be connected to either the exposure tunnel or the exposure box. The console consists of three main components: a source to supply sulfur dioxide, a gas mixing system and a gas monitor capable of analysing continuously concentrations of sulfur dioxide in a test enclosure. Figure 4.3 illustrates a photograph and schematic of the console.

In this study, Teflon permeation tubes were used to supply sulfur dioxide gas in all experiments. The permeation tubes were placed in "AID's constant temperature calibration system, model 303", which was capable of  $\pm 0.25$  degrees centigrade temperature control. The permeation rate is extremely temperature-sensitive and can vary up to 8 to 10 percent per degree centigrade change [21]. The tubes were calibrated over a period of several days as explained in the calibration section.

The gas mixing system consisted of an oil-less pump, two rotameters with needle valves and a timer activated-solenoid valve. The arrangement of the components is shown in Figure 4.3. The components enclosed in the dotted rectangle were not a part of the mixing system. Air was pumped through the mixing system to make required concentrations of sulfur dioxide. Needle valve #1 was used to control the total supply of dilution dir. The air stream was proportioned along two routes; a small volume passing through rotameter #1 and oven to sweep the permeated sulfur dioxide and the remaining volume of air passing straight through needle valve #3. The mixed stream is metered through rotameter #2.



FIGURE 4.3 PHOTOGRAPH AND SCHEMATIC OF SULFUR DIOXIDE MONITORING CONSOLE CONNECTED TO EXPOSURE SYSTEM.

ì

44

Э

Needle valves #2 and #3 were adjusted to ensure that a small volume of air was continually sweeping the permeated sulfur dioxide in the oven. The mixture was allowed to fill the exposure systemunder-experimentation continually and the excess gases were vented through a column of water. A sample of the gaseous mixture was continually withdrawn, analysed and recorded by the continuous sulfur dioxide monitor. The timer activated-solenoid valve allowed an 'automatic zero check two times every 24 hours by alternatively switching to zero air once every 12 hours. The zero air consisted of room air which was passed through a silica gel column before being Sampled by the monitor.

1

11 1 N

The gas monitor utilized in this study was a Davis, model 70 Al, sulfur dipxide continuous analyser (Figure 4.3). The analyser operates on the principle of electrical conductance caused by ionization of dissolved material. This is accomplished by measuring resistance of a sample and water mixture passing over a pair of electrodes. The primary element of the measuring system is the conductivity cell shown in Figure 4.4. The cell is fabricated from clear, resistant plastic which minimizes solubility of the plastic. The active and water check electrodes are both housed in the cell.

The air sample enters the cell at point " and the ion free water enters the cell at point "B" (Figure 4.4). The water passes over the water check electrodes which are positioned upstream from the mixing of the sample and water. Both sample and water mix together in the cell chamber. From the chamber, the solution passes between the active electrodes where its electrical resistance is measured. After being analysed, the solution leaves the cell at point "C" where it is sent through a suction device back to the ion exchange reservoir, whereih deionization takes place.



FIG. 4.4 CONDUCTIVITY CELL OF SO2 MONITOR

The sensitivity of the monitor is dependent upon the total number of ions formed. The sensitivity-is affected by the rates of flow of the sample with respect to the rate of flow of water since these determine the concentrations of the sample in water.

The measuring circuit is A.C. operated while the indicating portion is D.C. operated. Errors due to polarization, that is, the change in the composition of the solution adjacent to the electrodes, are eliminated by employing alternating current. The output from the cell is rectified and sent through the measuring circuit. Additional operating instruction can be obtained from the Davis instruction book [22].

#### 4.1.4 Environmental Control Chambers

Two types of chambers were used in this study to determine effects of humidity and temperature. The first kind had the capability of generating relative humidities between 20 to 80 percent over a temperature range of 5 to 50 degrees Celsius. These chambers measured approximately 31 cubic metres and were lined with shining aluminum panels on the walls and ceiling. A photograph of the sulfur dioxide console connected to the exposure box inside the chamber is shown in Figure 4.5. The control panels of the chambers were capable of maintaining humidity levels within 5% and temperature control within 1°C of the nominal settings, respectively. These chambers are located in the Biological Sciences Building at the University of Alberta.

To study low temperature effects, smaller chambers of approximately 7 cubic metre size were utilized. The temperature could be varied from 0 to -60 degrees Celsius. Humidity control was obviously not possible once the temperature was set at 10 degrees Celsius or lower in either of the two types of environmental

SO2 MONITORING CONSOLE ON THE LEFT, AND CON -SOLE FOR CHAMBER HU -MIDITY AND TEMPERATURE CONTROL, ON THE RIGHT. EXPOSURE BOX INSIDE THE ENVIRONMENTAL CHAMBER

FIGURE 4.5 SO2 CONSOLE CONNECTED TO EXPOSURE BOX

chambers. These chambers were located in the Mechanical Engineering Building at the same university.

4.1.5 Preparation of Lead Dioxide Cylinders and Plates

Before preparing the candles, each grade of lead dioxide used in this study was characterized using the Brunauer, Emmett and Teller (BET) adsorption apparatus at the Alberta Research Council to determine specific surface areas. The apparatus is rather complicated as are the calibrations and corrections involved in its operation. A good description of the equipment and procedures with reference to the determination of specific surface areas is given in reference [23]. The surface areas of Matheson and Baber lead dioxides were obtained by the above method and the data is discussed in Chapter VI during the evaluation of the critical loading percentage. Calculations in this study were based on specific surface areas since no assumptions of particle shape are required when the BET adsorption technique is used.

To prepare the candles, a tape of surgical gauze, 60 cm long and 5 cm wide was wrapped around 8 ounce jars of 20 cm circumference. The gauze was secured to the jar with cotton thread and painted with a lead dioxide mixture. The mixture was prepared by adding 300 ml of 2% gum tragacanth solution slowly to approximately 300 g of lead dioxide, in portions, with continuous stirring until a smooth paste entirely free from lumps was obtained. A mortar and pestle could be used for this purpose. The gum solution is prepared by dissolving 20 g gum in 100 ml methanol and diluting it to 1 litre with distilled water. The lead dioxide paste is evenly spread on the surgical gauze around the jar with a small brush. A set of 25 cylinders could

•....

be prepared, each containing approximately 8 g of lead dioxide. After drying, the amount of lead dioxide coated averaged 8  $\pm$  0.75 g and the pasted area measurements were within 5% of the required 100 square centimetres. Flat-glass plates with 100 cm<sup>2</sup> surface area were coated with the same lead dioxide mixture. However, since no gauze was used for the plates, it was necessary to dry each previous coat before applying another to retain a smooth surface. The weight of lead dioxide on the plates ranged between 6 to 7 g.

Huey plates used in the field study were prepared by grinding 4 g of Gelman paper in a grinding mill and transfering it to a blender containing 400 ml of water. After blending the contents for a minute, 64 g of lead dioxide and approximately 20 ml of 2% gum tragacanth solution were added and the mixture blended for a few more minutes. A circular gauze was attached to the Huey plate with acetone. Approximately 1 ml acetone was poured into the plate and allowed to dry in a fume hood. A 10 ml portion of the blended suspension was then placed into each Huey plate and the plates were then dried in an oven at 50 to 55 degrees Celsius. The amount of lead dioxide in the plates averaged  $1.60 \pm 0.04$  g with an average pasted area of  $19.65 \pm 0.01$ cm<sup>2</sup>.

#### 4.2 Procedures

## 4.2.1 Operating Procedure

A schematic of the complete experimental system used in this study is shown in Figure 4.3. The oil-less pump and the exposure box were placed inside environmental chambers during study of the humidity, concentration and the temperature effects. The sulfur dioxide monitoring console was positioned outside the chamber at room temperature and the sulfur dioxide feed and sample lines were connected to the equipment inside the chambers through receptacles in the chamber walls. The complete arrangement of Figure 4.3 operated at room temperature only when the wind tunnel was used as the exposure system. In any event the monitoring console was to be operated at room temperature at all times to avoid changes in solution conductivities and to prevent freezing of water lines in the monitor at colder temperatures.

Calibrated rotameters were used to determine the range of sulfur dioxide concentrations that could be obtained by adjusting needle valve No. 2 and 3 in Figure 4.3. The needle valves control the rate of flow of air and the permeated sulfur dioxide at a fixed permeation tube temperature. This procedure provided an estimate of the system's capabilities. Additional details on rotameter calibration are given in Appendix B. Before conducting experimental runs, a preliminary set of candles or plates was inserted in the system and the system was allowed to reach a steady concentration of sulfur dioxide. Initially there was considerable adsorption of sulfur dioxide on the system walls and lines but continuous operation of the system for half a day was found to be sufficient to reach

**3** 

a state of dynamic equilibrium. Steady state concentrations of sulfur dioxide could be maintained easily after this period. After reaching the equilibrium, the system responded quickly to any stimulus; flow rate adjustments or adjustment of permeation tube temperatures. The 90% response time of the monitor to changes in the input was less than a minute. Repeated calibrations of the permeation tube at fixed temperatures indicated a  $\pm$  5% variation in the gas permeation rate.

During experiments with the exposure box in the circuit, the box contained two sets of duplicate candles of two types. With the tunnel in circuit, only one candle or plate was inserted at a time. The steady velocity profile and good mixing of gases in the exposure box permitted placement of a set of four candles at a time. This was substantiated further by identical sulfation rates of duplicate candles in most runs. Preliminary candles or plates were exposed in the system to maintain steady conditions when no experiments were being conducted. This ensured minimum adjustment time of less than 10 minutes for gas concentrations to rise to steady levels upon change of candles or plates at the end of a test run.

Occasionally leaks had developed in the monitor circuit affecting the rates of flow of sample with respect to the rate of flow of water in the conductivity cell. This would cause a rise or fall of gas concentrations on the chart recorder. Elimination of leaks and proper adjustment of sample and water flows was sufficient to normalize operation of the monitor. A zero check was made twice daily and the zero drift was estimated to be one-half division per 24 hours.

### 4.2.2 Analytical Procedure

The analytical procedure to determine the sulfate content of the reacted lead dioxide surface was very similar to the ASTM's turbidimetric method. Despite the availability of more sophisticated and accurate analytical techniques, this simple technique was followed to determine its limitations and whether, with some modifications while maintaining the simplicity of the method, acceptable results with known precision and accuracy limits could be obtained. To retain the simplicity, measurement of the coated area of each candle or plate after exposure was considered undesirable provided an estimate of inherent statistical deviation had been obtained. Such estimate is described in section 4.1.5.

In the analysis of sulfation candles, the impregnated cloth surface was cut with a razor blade and separated from the glass support either by a spatula or knife point. The contents were transferred to a 400 ml beaker containing approximately 5 g of sodium carbonate (anhydrous powder) dissolved in 150 ml of distilled water. Extreme care is necessary to prevent loss of reacted lead dioxide during the transfer process. In case of flat plates, the reacted lead dioxide was scrapped off the glass surface. With Huey plates, the whole plate without the lid was placed in the beaker. The contents of the beaker were stirred occasionally and the mixture was allowed to soak overnight. Reacted lead dioxide in the Huey plate was lightly brushed into the beaker and the plate rinsed and removed. The solution was then heated for 30 to 45 minutes keeping the volume close to 100 ml for the candle or the flat plate and 50 ml for Huey plates. Distilled water was used to make up any loss of water. The hot contents were

filtered through Whatman No. 2V, 18.5 cm folded filter paper and the filter contents were washed several times with distilled water. The filtrate was allowed to cool to room temperature and neutralized with The pH of the filtrate was adjusted to 1.5 using a pH meter. 50% HC1. The filtrate volume was exactly adjusted to 250 ml for candles ml for Huey plates, and the contents were shaken to mix the solution well. A 50 ml aliquot was pipetted into a spectrophotometer cell and a spoonful (approximately 0.5 g) of Sulfaver IV was added to precipitate sulfate. The spectrophotometer was set at 100% transmission with reagent blank. In this case the reagent blank consisted of distilled water mixed with a spoonful of Sulfaver IV. The cell was allowed to stand for 5 minutes and the precipitates were shaken vigorously. Percent transmittance was read at 420 nm. A few sample blanks consisting of unexposed candles were analyzed but the spectrophotometer adjustment was found to be equal to those reflected by the reagent blanks. Therefore, only reagent blanks were used for the remaining tests. The calibration of the spectrophotometer waschecked periodically with at least a set of two standards. Complete details of spectrophotometer calibration are given in Appendix B.

# CHAPTER V

#### RESULTS

The results of experiments conducted to study the effects of various parameters on the sulfation rates of full size candles or plates are described in this chapter. Except for Huey plates which were used in field tests, the pasted area of the candles or flat plates was 100 cm<sup>2</sup> within 5%. The sulfur dioxide concentrations were. maintained constant at the selected levels within ±0.01 ppm. Larger deviations in gas concentrations occurred invariably due to the introduction of leaks in the monitoring system. The leaks caused a variation in the rate of flow of sample with respect to the rate of flow of water in the conductivity cell. Once the leaks were eliminated, the monitor operated normally. Experiments for which large deviations in gas concentrations occurred, were repeated. Before conducting any experiments the linearity between rotameter flow rates and indicated concentrations on the chart recorder was checked as explained in Appendix B.

Visual observation of the flat glass plates indicated that sulfation is mostly a surface phenomenon. The lead dioxide immediately in contact with the glass remains the same shade as at the beginning of the exposure period, while the outer area assumes a somewhat lighter color after the completion of chemical reaction.

#### 5.1 Effect of Humidity

The relative humidity of the exposure box was controlled by pumping humid air of pre-set relative humidity from the environmental chamber. Cylinders were exposed to nominal relative humidity settings of 30, 45, 60 and 80 percent, respectively. Humidity variations were limited to + 2% deviation between runs conducted at the same humidity level. The sulfur dioxide concentration and the dry bulb temperature of the environmental chamber were kept constant at 0.2 ppm and 21°C, respectively. Experiments conducted at 80 percent relative humidity were rejected due to the occurrence of condensation in the sampling lines. The experimental results are listed in Table 5.1 and plotted in Figure 5.1.

The straight vertical lines on Figure 5.1 indicate that the sulfation rates are independent of the effect of relative humidity for both types of lead dioxide cylinders. The two types of cylinders refer to candles pasted with two batches of lead dioxide of different surface areas per gram of the reagent. The surface area of the lead dioxide particles influences the sulfation rate more significantly.

During the 80 percent relative humidity run, the gaseous mixture in the teflon sampling lines started to condense on the inside walls of the tobing and even though attempts were made to prevent such condensation, these were unsuccessful. Consequently, the sulfur dioxide in the gaseous mixture dissolved on the wet walls of the sampling line, thereby causing a significant drop in the concentration of outfur dioxide. The monitor indicated almost 100% loss of sulfur dioxide concentrations with concentration readings approximating zero ppm. This experience indicated that should high ambient humidities

TABLE 5.1 EXPERIMENTAL DATA OF HUMIDITY EFFECTS ON SULFATION RATES OF TWO TYPES\* OF CANDLES<sup>3</sup>

57

in string of

R.H./Exposure % Hour	Cylinders	Sulfation Readings			Sulfation Rat
		% T	Avg % T	mg/1 SO <sub>4</sub>	mgSO3/dm <sup>2</sup> /d
32/48	M - 55	40.5	41.25	36.5	4.368
	- 56	42.0			
	B - 57	64.0	64.75	22.0	2.634
	- 58	65.5			
31.6/48	M - 59	40.5	41.25	36.5	4.368
	- 60	42.0			
• •	B - 61	67.0	66.50	21.2	2.538
	B - 62	6E.O			
43.0/48 41.5/49	°M − 65	44.0	43.50	34.8	4.167
	- 66	43.0			
	B - 63	64.5	61.25	24.0	2.873
	- 64	58.0			
	M - 67	45.5	44.50		
	- 68	43.5		34.0	3.987
	B - 69	64.0	64.00	00 F	
	- 70	64.0		22.5	2.639 "
2.05/48	M - 73	44.0	44.12	34.4	4.118
	- 74	44.3			
	B - 71	61.0	62.25		•
	- 72	63.5		23.4	2.802
* .	M - 77	50.3	47.40	32.0	3.871
	- 78	44.5			
	B <b>-</b> 75	64.0	63.87	22.5	
	- 76	63.8			2.72
Mer .					

The two types of cylinders are denoted in Table 5.1 by prefixes 'M' and 'B' and refer to Matheson and Baker lead dioxides having different surface areas per gram of reagent.

\*\* The sulfation rate has been adjusted to account for a 13% loss of sulfate in digestion and filtration steps of the analytical method (see Section 5.7).



persist, surface condensation on the exposed candles could occur and a tilm of water on the wet paste would promote the dissolution of sulfur dioxide, thereby increasing the apparent adsorption capacity of candles.

#### 5.2 Effect of Sulfur Dioxide Concentrations

Effects of gas concentrations were evaluated at three nominal levels: 0.08, 0.16 and 0.32 ppm. Although these levels are greater than commonly encountered ambient concentrations in Alberta, the selection was limited aue to the sensitivity level of the moritor. The smallest concentration level that could be read on the chart recorder was mid-point of the smallest division on the chart and this corresponded to a sulfur dioxide concentration reading of U.01 ppm. Since 0.01 ppm would represent the smallest accurate readable concentration level of sulfur dioxide, the concentration variation at each of the three nominal leyels was approximated to be 10 percent at the 0.08 ppm level, 5 percent at 0.2 ppm and about 3 percent at 0.32 DDIA. The exposure box temperature was maintained between -1 to  $-2.5^{\circ}$ C during all runs. The data is summarized in Table 5.2 and plotted in Figure 5.2.

The concentrations used in Figure 5.2 are weighted averages determined over the exposure period. With the known speed of the chart recorder, intervals of time of constant sulfur dioxide concentrations were marked to arrive at the weighted average for the test period. This was done to improve the accuracy of experimental data further. The data is represented with least square lines as shown in Figure 5.2. for Matheson W = 22.4 C + 0.17

...Equation 5.1

and for Baker  $PbO_2$  W = 12.84 C + 0.55 ... Equation 5.2

The slope of the lines gives the reactivity, W/C, for the two powders. The units of the reactivity are mg  $SO_3/dm^2/ppm$ . The dotted portion of the plot extrapolates the experimental data to sulfation rates at zero concentrations of sulfur dioxide. Whether this extrapolation is valid would require further experimental evaluations with a monitor which is more precise and accurate at such low sulfur dioxide concentrations. Within the range of gaseous concentrations studied in this report, the adsorption coefficients were calculated from equations 5.1 and 5.2.

In terms of parts per million of sulfur dioxide and milligrams of sulfur dioxide adsorbed, the adsorption coefficients on a per cylinder basis are:

for Matheson  $PbO_2 = 22.4 \times \frac{64}{80} = 17.92 \text{ mg } SO_2/\text{ppm/d}$ 

乙

...Equation 5.3


	TABLE 5.2
<b>EXPERIMENTAL</b>	DATA OF SO CONCENTRATION EFFECTS
ON SULFATION	RATES OF TWO TYPES++ OF CANDLES
	Temperature = $(-2 + 1)^{\circ}C$

Weighted		S	ulfation R	eadings	Sulfation Rate*	
Conc./Exposure ppm Hours	Cýlinders	% T	SO <sub>4</sub> , mg/1	Avg.SO4 mg/1	mgSO <sub>3</sub> /dm <sup>2</sup> /d	
0.0936/96	M - 12	43.25	35.0	35.00	2.095	
· · · ·	- 14	43.20	35.0			
	B - 20	55.00	27.4	27.95	<b>⊷</b> 1.673	
	<sup>1</sup> – 21	53.00	28.15	27030	₽ .	
.0828/72	M - 40	58.3	25.4	26.00	2.075	
	- 41	56.0	26.6	200,00		
	B - 36	69.5	20.0	20.30	1.620	
	- 37	67.5	20.6			
	4	en La transferencia	L.		· · · ·	
0.202/48	M - 45	34.7	42.0	40.75	4.378	
•	- 46	37.5	39.5			
•	B - 47-	58.0 /	25.6	25.70	3.077	
	- 48	57.75	25.8		ц	
0.21/96	M - 15	10.00*	81.5	81.15	4.857	
	- 16	10.20*	80.8	01111		
~	B - 18	22.00	56.5	56.50	3.382	
.:	- 19	22.00	56.5			
0.195/97	M – 13	11.2*	78.0	77.25	4.576	
	- 28	11.8*	76.5			
	B - 17	25.0	52.5	52.50	3.11	
0.318/48	M - 42	18.75	61.5	60.95	7.296	
	- 43	19.50	60.4			
	B - 27	34.25	42.5	41.45	4.962	
	- 44	36.5	40.4		·	
0.33/48.5	M - 50	18.00	63.0,	63.00	7.464	
*	- 51	18.00	63.0		* *	
	B - 52	38.50	38.6		,	
	- 53	40.00	37.4	<b>.</b> 37.33	4.423	
• 1	- 54	37.00	36.0			

\* These readings are outside the selected calibration range and may have a slightly higher inherent error margin.

\*\* The sulfation rate has been adjusted to account for a 13% loss of sulfate during the digestion and filtration steps in the analytical method (see Section 5.7)

++ The two types of candles refers to candles made from Matheson and Baber lead dioxides having different surface areas per gram of reagent.

# and for Baker PbO<sub>2</sub> = 12.84 X $\frac{64}{80}$ = 10.27 mg SO<sub>2</sub>/ppm/d

... Equation 5.4

The adsorption coefficients so obtained were used to arrive at an allowable exposure time versus sulfur dioxide concentrations \*prevalent in Alberta. This is discussed in the Chapter VI of this report.

#### 5.3 Effect of Wind Speeds

ç

These effects were studied in the closed loop wind tunnel kept at the room temperature of  $23 \pm 3^{\circ}$ C at constant sulfur dioxide concentrations of 0.2 ppm. A set of flat glass plates and a set of sulfation candles were pasted with Matheson lead dioxide having a surface area of 5.52 m<sup>2</sup>/g of reagent. An additional set of sulfation candles was prepared using an FC-2x355 lead dioxide reagent having a surface area of 8.3 m<sup>2</sup>/g. Each of the plates or the candles had a pasted area of 100 cm<sup>2</sup>. The experiments were designed to study the effect of wind speeds on two different exposed surface geometries; a flat and a cylindrical surface, and as well as on candles made from lead dioxide reagents of different surface areas. Table 5.3 summarizes the data obtained during these experiments. The data is plotted on a logarithmic graph paper and a best-fit curve of the form, y = ax<sup>n</sup> is fitted to each set of data in Figure 5.3. The least square solution to the above equation for each set of candles and plates is given below: For candles pasted with,

Matheson  $PbO_2 = 0.41u + 0.75$ 

...Equation 5.5

 $FC-2x PbO_2 = 0.35 u + 0.75$ 

...Equation 5.6

and for flat glass plates pasted with,

Matheson  $PbO_2 = 0.49u + 0.70$ 

...Equation 5.7

where  $w = \log W$  and  $u = \log U$ 

The slope of the three lines varies between 0.35 to 0.49 with an average slope being 0.42. That is, the average sulfation rate w is proportional to 0.4th power of wind speed.

64

The sulfation rates for all the candles and plates at each of the wind speeds were within a band-width of  $1.5 \text{ mgSO}_3/\text{dm}^2/\text{d}$  or less. This margin is so small that the differences in sulfation rates cannot be conclusively related to having been caused either by the difference in exposed surface geometries or due to the difference in specific surface areas per gram of the lead dioxide reagents. The plots of equations 5.5 and 5.6 show that the sulfation rate does not increase in proportion to an increase in specific surface areas of the lead dioxide reagents. The sulfation rates from the two plots differ insignificantly even though the specific surface area of the FC-2x lead dioxide was 1.5 times the Matheson powder.

#### TABLE 5.3

· ·

#### EXPERIMENTAL DATA OF VELOCITY EFFECTS ON SULFATION RATES Temperature = (23+ 3)°C

				Sulf	ation H olution	Reading	
Sulfation Device	Velocity/Exposur m/s hours	e Cylinders	Conc.* Factor		Volume ml	mg/l	Rate mgSO <sub>3</sub> /dm <sup>2</sup> /d
Matheson	0.30/20	B - 80	1.034	86.0	250	13.0	2 61
Candles	1.57/47.5	Α	1.008	26.0	250	51.2	3.61 6.15
	4.36/48.5	В	1.019	35.5	500	41.2	9.57
	5.85/48	С	• .	26.3	500	51.0	12.65
	8.38/46.5	D	.1.015	22.3	500	56.2	13.69
C - 2X 355	0.30/17	FC - 9	0.970	89.0	250	12.0	4.18
Candles	1.57/24	FC - 1	0.977	68.0	250	20.5	5.02
	4.36/22.75	FC - 2	0.948	44.6	250	34.0	9.06
	5.85/24	FC – 4	1.042	23.5	250	54.4	12.49
lat-Glass	0.30/24	P1	0.925	87.0	250	12.6	3.26
Plate Coated	1.57/48	P2	1.000	32.3	250	44.2	5.29
With Mathe-	1.57/24	P <sub>2</sub>	1.010	61.5	250	23.6	5.60
son Powder	4.36/24	P3	1.010	34.0	250	42.6	10.10
· ( · ·	4.36/24	P <sub>3</sub>	1.054	31.5	250	45.2	10.10
	5.85/24	P5	0.980	21.3	<b>2</b> 50	57.6	14.07
	8.38/27.75	P <sub>6</sub>	1.072	38.5	500	38.6	14.92

 Concentration factor is the ratio of actual weighted concentration to 0.2 ppm and the adjusted sulfation rate is obtained by dividing with this factor.

Ŀ

\*\* The sulfation rate has been adjusted to account for a 13% loss in sulfate during the digestion and filtration step in the analytical procedure (see Section 5.7).



The experiments, therefore, indicate that the wind speed variations in the range of 0.3 to 8.38 m/s, affect the sulfation rate strongly. Sulfation rate is not directly proportional to the specific surface area (Figure 5.3). This must likely be due to some particle aglomeration occurring when lead dioxide pastes are made up. However, there is a significant difference in rates between pastes made from Matheson powder and from Baker powder (Figure 5.1). It is therefore, recommended that powders used by various laboratories have the same specific surface area.

#### 5.4 Effect of Temperature

The study of temperature effects involved the use of several environmental control chambers each of which was capable of providing temperature control within a certain temperature range. Depending upon the temperature of interest, the exposure box was located in one of the chambers for the duration of the experimental run. In all experiments, the concentration of sulfur dioxide was maintained at 0.2 ppm with a maximum deviation of 0.01 ppm. The exposure periods were generally two days in each run. Any small variations in gas concentrations or exposure periods were taken into account in the calculation of sulfation rates reported in Table 5.4 and plotted in Figure 5.4. During each run, a set of four candles, two Matheson and two Baker, were exposed simultaneously in the exposure box at a constant temperature.

The least square fit to the sulfation rates of Matheson candles is given by equation 5.8 below.

 $W = -8.38 \times 10-3 T_A + 6.78$ 

Equation 5.8

The Matheson plot in Figure 5.4 indicates higher sulfation at lower temperatures. As the temperature increases, the sulfation rate of Matheson candles decreases. In the range of  $-40^{\circ}$ C to  $+ 40^{\circ}$ C, the sulfation rate of Matheson candles decreased at the rate of 0.0084 mgSO<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/d/°K. The sulfation rate from the least square equation 5.8 at 40°C is approximately 17% lower than that at  $-40^{\circ}$ C. The predicted sulfation rates at the two temperatures (equation 3.13 of Model-1) differ by approximately 10% only. The calculations by Model-1, however, suggest that sulfation rate is greater at higher temperatures contrary to the experimental findings. It is difficult to explain this inconsistency. In any event, it appears that effect of temperature in the described temperature range is small.

A straight line could not be fitted to the scattered data of Baker candles in Figure 5.4. Further, the sharp decrease in sulfation rate at 232°K could not be explained rationally. Consequently, the temperature experiments were repeated to re-check the sulfation rates at colder temperatures. The repeated experiments were conducted at nominal temperature settings of -5, -20 and -45°C. The actual temperatures in the exposure box averaged -3.75, -16.5 and -41.5°C. The repeated data'is also plotted in Figure 5.4, but reported separately in Table 5.5. The repeated data reconfirms the previous findings with respect to Matheson and Baker candles. A possible explanation for the scattered data of Baker candles may be that the effective area of the paste undergoes a change at subzero temperatures. Since all candles are dried at room temperature, the possibility of a small amount of moisture remaining in the paste exists. This moisture at subzero temperatures freezes and may be responsible for reducing the effective surface area available for reaction. The larger surface area of Matheson lead dioxide of 5.5  $m^2/g$  is not affected as significantly as • does the surface area of 1.7 m<sup>2</sup>/g of the Baker lead dioxide.

6

• 1

#### Table 5.4

## EXPERIMENTAL DATA OF TEMPERATURE EFFECTS ON SULFATION RATES AND TYPES OF CANDLES

.

Temperature	0		Su	lfation	Readings	
°C/Exposure Hours	Conc. Factor	Cylinders	%T	Avg. %T	Avg. SO <sub>4</sub> mg/l	Sulfation Rate mgSO <sub>3</sub> /dm <sup>2</sup> /d
42.5/48	0.983	M-81 -82	44 46	45	33.6	4.09
		B-83 -84	72 77	74.5	17.6	2.15
45/48	1.019	M-85 -56	43.0 42.5	42.75	35.4	4.16
		8-87 -88 -88	75.5	75.5	17.2	2.02
44.5/48	0.989	M-89 -90 -91	41.5	44.0	34.5	4.18
		B-92	45.0 76.5	76.5	16.6	2.01
20.5/48++	1.000	M-65	44.0	43.5	34.8	4.17
		₹66 B-63 -64	43.0 64.5 58.0	61.25	24	2.87
21/49++	1.000	M-67 -68	45.5	44.5	34.0	3.99
· · ·		B-69 -70	64.0 64.0	64.0	22.5	2.64
	······································			· · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
2/48**	1.01	M-45 -46	34.7 37.5	36.1	40.75	4.83 ,
		B-47 ⊶-48	58.0 57.75	57.87	25.7	3.05

مبو

J

Temperature °C/Exposure Hours	Conc. Factor	Cylinders	Sul %⊺		Readings Avg. SO4 mg/l	Sulfation Rate mgS(3/dm <sup>2</sup> /d
-32/48	0.973	M-93 -94	35.25 37.0	36.12	40.8	5.0
	<b>,</b>	B-95 -96	65.5 64.5	65.0	22.0	2.7.
-32.48	0.985	M-97 -98	38.25	. 38.5	38.6	4.69
		B-99 -100	38.75 67.5 65.25	66.4	21.4	2.60
-32.5/48	1.019	M-101	40.5	40.4	37.0	4.34
<i>.</i>		-102 B-103 -104		64.75	22.0	2.59
-32/48	1.011	M-107 -108	36.0 37.5	36.75	4.0	4.73
1		=108 B=105 =106	67.5 68.0	67.75	20.6	2.44
-41/48	1.014	M-109	32.5	33.0	43.6	5.15
	. ·	-110 B-111 <b>1</b> 2	33.5 78.0 77.0	77.5	16.4	1.94
-40/48	1.019	M-113 -114	35.0 37.75	36.4	40.5	4.76
		B-115 -116	78.0 77.0	77.5	16.4	1.93
-41/48	0.975	M-117 -118	40.5 39.5	<b>4</b> 0	37.5	4.60
		B-119 -120	82.5 83.0	82.7	14.4	1.83

Table 5.4 (continued)

- ++ This data set is from Table 5.1. These experiments were conducted at 21°C and because there were no humidity effects, the data provides effects of temperature. Although one of the set from Table 5.1 was chosen, an average sulfation rate of all the data in this Table could also be plotted instead with similar results.
  \*\* This data set is from Table 5.2 at 0.2 ppm. The other two sets at 0.2 ppm
  - \* This data set is from Table 5.2 at 0.2 ppm. The other two sets at 0.2 ppm may be plotted in the temperature effect plot but were omitted to minimize inherent error as explained in the footnote of Table 5.2.

.

#### Table 5.5

71

#### REPEATED EXPERIMENTAL DATA OF TEMPERATURE EFFECTS ON SULFATION RATES

v

Temperature °C/Exposure Hours	Conc. Factor	Cylinders	Sul %T	fation Readinys Avg. Avg. SO <sub>4</sub> %T mg/l	Sulfation Rate* mgSO <sub>3</sub> /dm <sup>2</sup> /d
-3.75/51+	1.051	MA 1 MA 2	30 31.5	30.75 45.6	4.88
-3.75/69+	0.975	BA 1 BA 2	36.5 35.0	35.75 41.0	3.50
-16.5/90	0.949	MA 3 MA 4	47.75 47.0	47.38** 32.0	4.31
-16.5/82	0.977	BA 6 BA 7	28.5 28.5	28.5 48.4	3.47
-41.5/48++	1.278	MA 9	27	26.5 50.6	4.74
r (		MA 10 BA 9 BA 10	26 75 75.5	75.25 17.2	1.61
	<b>,</b>		• .		

- Sulfation rate has been adjusted for 13% loss in sulfate during analytical procedure (Section 5.7)
- \*\* For this set, the filtrate was diluted to 500 ml due to higher reaction whereas for all other sets it was 250 ml. This would introduce dilution errors.
- ++ A new calibrated permeation tube was used for this test and difficulties were experienced in maintaining concentrations due to electrical interference.

+. During these runs the 'gain' on the monitor was not adjusted properly and therefore, the concentration readings were fluctuating and had to be estimated.



The repeat runs were not as reliable as those reported in Table 5.4 due to equipment operational problems experienced in these tests. There were electrical interferences between the monitoring console output signal and the circuitry of the environmental chamber during the frequent switching on and off of the temperature control cycle. This caused sudden variations in the recordings of sulfur dioxide concentrations. Later, leaks developed in the air and water flow lines of the Davis sulfur dioxide analyzer and finally the analyzer pump had to be replaced since it gradually failed to pump the required flows. Eventually most of these problems were corrected but the data obtained in these runs had to be adjusted to correct some of the inaccuracies occurring during the runs.

In summary, apart from the fact that both the predicted and experimental sulfation rates vary little with significant temperature variations, it is difficult to explain the two opposing trends or the scatter in the Baker candle data. A possible explanation of the negative dependency of sulfation rate on temperature is discussed in Chapter VI.

5.5 Validation of Mass Transfer Models

The sulfation rates predicted by either of the two models discussed in Chapter III were compared with the experimental rates obtained from Figures 5.2 and 5.3. The predicted sulfation rates for the plates and candles at various wind speeds were calculated from equations 3.12 and 3.13 of Model-1, respectively. The experimental sulfation rates for candles and plates were computed from equation 5.5

and 5.7 which represent the best fit to the experimental data of Figure 5.3. The predicted rates from Model-1 were calculated at an average sulfur dioxide concentration of 0.2 ppm and average temperature of 25°C, which were the same conditions used in the wind tunnel tests to obtain data for Figure 5.3.

The sulfation rates so obtained were used in the calculation of predicted versus experimental correlation factors at various wind speeds. The correlation factor (C/W) at a wind speed is the ratio of average concentration of sulfur dioxide to the predicted or experimental sulfation rate. The predicted and the experimental data on sulfation rates and correlation factors are listed in Table 5.6. Figures 5.5 and 5.6 show a comparison of the correlation factors for sulfation candles and flat plates, respectively. Figure 5.7 shows a comparison of sulfation rates for candles and flat glass plates.

Model-1 predicts that the correlation factor, C/W is inversely proportional to the square root of the wind speed and this is in agreement with the experimental results. Figure 5.5 shows that for Matheson candles, the predicted and experimental correlation factors agree very well in the wind speed range of 0.3 to 8.4 m/s. For the flat-glass plates, the two correlation factors agree within 25% of each other at a constant wind speed as shown in Figure 5.6. The percentage figure was determined by taking a difference between the correlation factors at a wind speed and dividing the difference by the smaller of the two factors. It is not clear whether the agreement between the predicted and the experimental correlation factors holds true at wind speeds less than approximately 0.3 m/s. For example, the

data in Figure 5.2 was collected at an average wind speed of 0.18 m/s in the exposure box and the correlation factor was calculated to be 0.043 at a sulfur dioxide concentration of 0.2 ppm. Even though a temperature difference exists between the data for Figure 5.2 and 5.3, the effect on correlation factors was considered insignificant. The predicted correlation factor of 0.089 from Model 1 is approximately, double that indicated by Figure 5.2. A partial explanation of the disagreement between the two factors may be due to the inaccuracies associated with measurement of such low wind speeds. An accurate measurement of velocity profile in the exposure box at these wind speeds was difficult.

Figure 5.3 indicates that the sulfation rate of Matheson candles or flat-glass plates is proportional to an average of 0.42th power of the wind speed. This compares well with Model-1 where the sulfation rate is proportional to the square root of the wind speed. There is insufficient data to establish whether equations 5.5, 5.6 and 5.7 would be true at wind speeds less than 0.3 m/s. In the range of 0.3 to 8.4 m/s, an excellent agreement exists between the predicted and experimental sulfation rates for Matheson candles as shown in Figure 5.7. Model-1, however, predicts lower sulfation rates for flat-glass plates.

#### Table 5.6

### PREDICTED (MODEL-1) AND EXPERIMENTAL CORRELATION FACTORS (C/W) AND SULFATION RATES

Average  $SO_2$  Conc. = 0.2 ppm

Average Temperature = 25°C

<u></u>	0.3	Average	Wind Sp	beed, m/s	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.3	1.57	4.36	5.85	8.38
. Matheson (6.3 cm diameter X	5.1 cm)	Candle		¥.	-
Sulfation Rate by Model-1	2.9	6.5	10.6	12.3	14.7
Experimental Sulfation Rate	3.4	6.8	10.3	11.0	13.5
*Correlation Factor by Model-1	0.068	0.031	0.019	0.016	0.014
Experimental Correlation Factor	0.059	0.029	0.019	0.017	0.015
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	:				
. Flat-Glass Plate Coated With (12.5 cm X 8.0 cm)	Matheso	on PbO <sub>2</sub>			
Sulfation Rate by Model-1	2.2	4.9	8.2	9.5	11.4
Experimetal Sulfation Rate	2.8	6.4	10.5	12.2	14.5
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		,		<b>\$</b>	•
Correlation Factor by Model-1	0.092	0.040	0.024	0.021	0.018
Experimental Correlation Factor	0.071	0.031	0.019	0.0164	0.013

\* - Sulfation rate units in all cases are mgSO<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/d
 + - Experimental rates were obtained from equation 5.5 for Matheson candles and equation 5.7 for the plates
 \*\*- Units of correlation factors are ppm/mgSO<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/d



FIG. 5.5 COMPARISON OF PREDICTED (MODEL-I) & EXPERIMENTAL CORRELATION FACTORS FOR MATHESON CANDLES.



FIG. 5.6 COMPARISON OF PREDICTED (MODEL-I) & EXPERIMENTAL CORRELATION -FACTORS FOR FLAT - GLASS PLATES

78

æ.

÷



Model-1 was used further to calculate sulfation rates of Matheson candles at various concentrations of sulfur dioxide while using a constant wind speed of 0.18 m/s. These rates were then compared with the experimental sulfation rates read from Figure 5.2 for the same candles. In both cases, the average temperature was The two sets of data are listed below and plotted in Figure -2°C. 5.8. The predicted sulfation rates were lower than the experimental rates. The difference in sulfation rates is believed to be more due to the difficulty in measuring accurately such low wind speeds. The measurements were at the extreme end of the hot wire anemometer scale. In any case, a logrithmic plot (not shown here) of the experimental data given below indicated that the sulfation rate was proportional to the concentration raised to the power 0.97. This compares well with Model-1 which indicates that sulfation rate is proportional to average sulfur dioxide concentration at a constant wind speed.

Matheson Candle Average Wind Speed = 0.18 m/s Average Temperature = -2°C Sulfation Rate, mySU3/dm<sup>2</sup> Sulfur Dioxide À Model-1 Concentration, ppm iqure 2.4 1.12 0.1 2.24 4.65 0.2 6.9 3.37 0.3

As discussed in section 5.4, the temperature effects between  $-40^{\circ}$ C and  $+40^{\circ}$ C for both the predicted and experimental sulfation rates were small even though in one case the sulfation rate increased slightly with an increase in temperature whereas in the other, it decreased with an increase in temperature. The predicted sulfation rates were 2.35 and 2.12 at 40°C and  $-40^{\circ}$ C, respectively at a constant wind speed of 0.18 m/s and gas concentration of 0.2 ppm.

Calculation of sulfation rate (Appendix C) by Model-2, which is independent of the effects of gas velocities resulted in sulfation rates of 47.88 mgSO<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/d. The sulfur dioxide concentration was 0.2 ppm and the calculations were done at a temperature of  $-2^{\circ}$ C. The calculated sulfation rate is obviously too high and inconsistent with experimental data.

-81

Å



ø

5.6 Effect of Shelter Shape and Opening Areas

These experiments were conducted in the field at ambient' exposure conditions using both the candles and Huey plates pasted with Matheson lead dioxide. The effect of shelter opening areas were evaluated using three cubical shelters whereas the shelter shape effects were determined by a comparison of sulfation rate of candles exposed in a cubical and a cylindrical shelter, both having, approximately equal opening areas.

Since the practice of exposing the Huey plates and sulfation candles simultaneously in one shelter has been followed in Alberta at some locations, the field experiments were also conducted in the same manner. The Huey plates were 5 cm in diameter and were mounted on the ceiling of each shelter. The shelter also contained a Matheson lead dioxide cylinder mounted on its base. Three cubical shelters, C-1, C-2 and C-3 were designed with opening areas of 200, 600 and 1180 cm2 respectively. A round shelter R-1, as shown in Figure 2b, of 208 cm<sup>2</sup> opening area was also positioned in the field to determine shelter shape effects. All shelters were mounted on the roof of an air monitoring trailer approximately 3 metre high. The field data so obtained is listed in Table 5.6. The effect of the cubical shelter opening areas on sulfation rate is shown in Figure 5.9 and the effect of shelter shape in Figure 5.10.

Figure 5.9 indicates an approximate 25 percent increase in sulfation rate for cylinders with a six fold increase in the shelter opening area. However, the Huey plates are not affected by the increase in opening areas. Contrary to the findings of Huey [8], who had indicated that Huey plates reacted approximately 20% greater than

the candles, the sulfation rates of Huey plates obtained in this study were significantly lower than that of the candles. A possible explanation of this result may be that the ambient air flowing through the shelter comes in contact with the candle first which is much larger in size and occupies a greater volume of the shelter space. Immediate reaction of sulphur dioxide with the much larger coated area of the candle would cause reduction of gas concentrations in air inside the shelter, thereby reducing the sulfation rate of Huey plates mounted just above the candles. Huey plates mounted on a separate receptable outside the cubical shelter and fully exposed to the atmosphere are recommended to arrive at a more reliable comparison of sulfation rates. A larger scatter in the Huey plate data in Figure 5.9 may also be due to such concentration variations in the shelter.

Figure 5.10 shows that the sulfation rates of candles in round shelters were lower than those obtained in the cubical shelter even though both shelters had approximately equal opening areas. This was contrary to the findings of Lawrence [26], who in his experiments in the wind tunnel found that the percentage of air flow inside the shelters at constant external wind speed was greater for cylindrical shelters than for the cubical shelter, and should therefore result in approximately 10 to 20% greater sulfation rate in the cylindrical shelter. Lawrence found that for a given external air speed, the highest percentage transmission occurs when a face of the shelter is perpendicular to the direction of the air flow. The lowest percentage transmission occurs when a corner of the shelter is into the wind. The round shelter was designed to minimize the

- 84

directional effects of prevailing winds. However, in this study, unlike the cubical shelter which had long slits of rectangular openings aligned at the same height on all faces, the openings in the round shelter were unaligned and consisted of small slits punched randomly around the circumference. A comparison of the opening dimensions is given below.

	Cub	oical Shelter	Cylinderical Shelter
Total Number of Openings	* 1	16 (4 on eac	th face) 28
Average Length of Each Openi	ing	17.8 cm	5.72 cm
Average Width of Each Openir	ng	0.7 cm	1.3 cm

Even though the opening area is approximately the same, it is now realized that the distribution of a large number of small unaligned openings around the circumference of the shelter may have attributed to a higher resistance to the free flow of ambient air through the round shelter than that encountered in the cubical shelter. This would result in smaller sulfation rates of candles in the round shelter.

7

Although the amount of data in these experiments is not extensive, but because the data were obtained under field conditions and consistently show a difference in sulfation rates ranging from 2 to 20% for each of these months, arbitrary changes made in shelter geometry and employment of one sulfation device or the other by an agency should be approached cautiously.

#### TABLE 5.7

# FIELD DATA ON SULFATION RATES OF CYLINDERS VERSUS HUEY PLATES

	Candle & Plate	Sulfation Reading % T SO4, mg/1				Sulfation Rate* mgSO3/dm <sup>2</sup> /day		
	Shelter	Candles	Plates	Candles	Plates	Candles	Plates	
			- ,					
Oct.4-Oct.26/76 (22 days)	C-1 R-1	87.5 88.9	-	12.4 12.0	-	0.134 0.131	-	
Jan.6=Feb.1/77 (26)	C-1 C-2	80.5	95.2 Rejected		9.6+ Spilling	0.140	0.088	
-	C-3 R-1	67.25 85.75	93°75 96.5	21.0 13.0	10.0+ 9.2+	0.193 0.119	0.091 0.085	
eb.1-Mar.4/77 (31)	C-1 C-2 C-3	79.25 72.0 68.75	94.4 95.6 93.0	15.6 18.8 20.0	10.0+ 9.5+ 10.2+	0.120 0.144 0.154	0.077 0.073 0.078	
	R-1 4	80.0	96.3	15.2	9.2+	0.117	0.071	
lar.4-Apr.13/77 (40)	C-1 C-2 C-3 R-1	74.75 61.6 62.75 80.12	76.0 71.9 77.25 65.5	17.4 23.0 23.0 15.2	17.0 18.6 16.5 21.6	0.104 0.138 0./138 0.09	0.050 0.066 0.039 0.051	
pr.13-May 4/77 (21)	C-1 C-2 C-3 R-1	86 80 82.75 92.2	83.6 · 90.6 79.0 80.)	13.0 15.2 14.2 11.0	14.0 11.4 15.8 15.2	0.148 /0.173 0.162 0.125	0.079 0.129 0.089 0.068	

- \* The sulfation rate has been adjusted to account for a 13% loss in sulfate during digestion and filtration step in the analytical procedure (Section 5.7)
- These readings for Huey plates (Figure 5.11) fall outside the selected calibration range and their precision is lower than other readings in this Table. The sulfation rates of these plates were calculated from extrapolated calibration curve.





5.7 Analytical Accuracy and pH Effects

Accuracy of a measurement technique refers to a degree of difference between observed and known, or actual values [38]. The accuracy of the turbidimetric method was determined by conducting a sulfate recovery analysis and a study of solution pH effects. In the recovery analysis, samples of lead sulfate reagent of known sulfate concentrations were digested and analysed according to the turbidimetric method, and percentage recovery was calculated. As reported in Section A of Table 5.7, the average recovery was 87 percent of the total sulfate initially present as lead sulfate. This means that of the lead sulfate formed on sulfation candles exposed in the atmosphere, only 87 percent is recoverable by the turbidimetric method after digestion. A 13 percent loss occurs during the digestion and filtration step. This is confirmed further by the 100% recovery of sodium sulfate standards as reported in Section B of Table 5.5. Two known standards were mixed to obtain two sets of composite samples; . the concentration for the first set being 17.46 ppm, which is near the lower sensitivity level of the analytical method and that of the second set 50 ppm, being near the upper level. The average recovery for both sets was almost 100 percent indicating that after the digestion step, there was no loss in sulfate recovery when standards are prepared using sodium sulfate as done in this study.

A study of the pH effects on measured sulfation levels was undertaken since many laboratories in Alberta were analyzing the sulfation devices at different pH levels, the two typical values being pH of 4.5 and 2.5. A study by See and Solomon [31] had indicated differences of up to 30% in the measured sulfation levels at pH of 6.1 and 2.8. The differences were observed between two series of standards, one series prepared at pH of 6.1 and the other at pH 2.7.

TABLE 5.8



#### ACCURACY OF TURBIDIMETRIC METHOD

#### A. Digestion and Analysis of Lead Sulfate Samples of 30 ppm and 60 ppm Sulfate Concentration

			•		
Sam		3	0 ppm 🥵 👘	ulfate-Concentra 60	tion ;
Numl	Der	% T*	phw.	° % T*	, ppm*
-	1	58.5	.25.4	25 0	52.5 <sup>°</sup>
	2	57.0	25.4	25.0 24.5	52.5 53.2
*	3	56.0	26.8	24.0	53.8
	1	58.5	25.4	26.0	51.2
	5	57.5	26.0	25.0	52.5
	5	57.0	<b>,25.6</b>	24.0	53.8
	•	Avg. S CV	25.9 0.548 2.1%		52.83 0.989 1.87%
, , ,	Recover	у,=	$\frac{25.9}{30}$ X 10	$0 = \frac{52.83}{60}$	X 100 ,
	0	=	86.3		88.05

#### B. Recovery of Sodium Sulfate Standards

\*

Sample	Added Standa 17.46		Added Standa 50 pr	ard #8 to #10
Number	<b>% F</b> *	ppm*	%T*	ppm*
<b>•</b> 1	75	17.4	27	. 50
.2	75.2	. 17.5	26.5	50.6
3	~ 73.0	18.2	25.5	- 51.8
4	74.0	17.8	26.8	50
5	76.5	16.6'	26.4	50.5
6	76.0	17.0	26.8	50.0
Recover	Avg. S CV 'y =	17.41 0.567, 3.2% 99.7%		50.48 0.700 1.3% 101%

- Refers to spectrophotmeter readings, that is, percent transmission and corresponding concentration of sulfate from the calibration curve.

A plot of data obtained from these tests resulted in two lines intersecting at point representing 0.25 mg sulfate such that the curve at pH 6.1 gave lower absorbances for equivalent levels of sulfate less than 0.25 mg. The reasons for the differences were the varying solubility of barium sulfate at various pH levels. However, if the standards are run at the same pH as the samples, See et al. indicated that the dissolved barium sulfate would be compensated for and the observed results would be correct. But the review of common-station study conducted in Alberta had indicated that, in some cases. laboratories were not adjusting the pH level of the standards or were adjusting the sample pH level differents than that of the standards. Therefore, it was decided to evaluate the pH effects in the same manner, that is the standards, or the calibration<sup>®</sup> curve, were at a different pH than the samples. In this study, the samples were, therefore, adjusted to pH levels of 4.5 and 1.5, although the calibration curve was obtained at a pH of 1.5. The pH 1.5 was selected to ensure complete reaction of excess carbonate such that effervescence of the carbon dioxide would not interfere with spectrophotometer readings.

The analyses were conducted at the two pH level's using field samples. The candles exposed in the field were stripped, digested, and filtered, and the resultant solution was adjusted to pH 4.5 and the solution volume was made up to 250 ml. An aliquot of the solution was adjusted to a pH of 1.5 with concentrated HCl. In all cases approximately a drop or two of HCl was necessary to adjust the pH of the aliquot to 1.5, thereby ensuring no dilution effects. The data is tabulated below.

		·	ng/l Sulfat	ze .
Cylinder -	урН <b>4.</b> 5		pH/1.5	% Difference*
RE-1	12.2	an a	12.6	3.2
CÊ-1	12.8	ана (1997) Спорта (1997) Спорта (1997)	13.6	5.9
CR-1 ु.	• 17.0		17.8	4.5
CR-2	19.6		21.5	8.8

\* Percentage based on correct result at pH 1.5.

The measured sulfation rate is approximately 6 percent greater at pH 1.5 than at pH 4.5 for field samples. It was observed that the adjustment of solution pH to 4.5 can cause large errors due to the effervescence of carbon dioxide still remaining in the solution. Upon addition of the precipitating reagent, a froth tends to form in the spectrophotometer cell and unless more than 10 to 15 minutes is allowed for the froth to disappear, the spectrophotometer readings would be affected.

The results obtained above merely indicate the potential of errors when a non-standardized analytical technique is followed by different laboratories. The error potential increases when the analytical techniques are completely different. In any event, since adjusting the samples and the standards to same pH compensates sulfate solubility variations [31], analysis can be conducted at either pH 4.5 or 1.5, but analysis at pH 1.5 is recommended because it minimizes interferences due to excessive effervescence by ensuring a more complete reaction of excess carbonate at lower pH. 5.8 Minimum Reproducible Detection Limit (MRDL)

During the common station study evaluation, the lack of a non-standard calibration method of laboratory spectrophotometers was determined to be one of the sources of error in the measured sulfation results. In a report [27] by the Environmental Protection Agency, 93% of the reproducibility variation in a test result was attributed to laboratory bias with the other 7% due to repeatability variation. Most of the apparent laboratory bias variation was rather a day effect primarily caused by dubious daily spectrophotometer re-calibration procedures. The report concluded that restricting the usage of the calibration curve to its upper region can halve the analytical procedure's percentage error contribution to the reproducibility variation. Although this report was produced to improve the source sampling method for oxides of nitroyen, the inferences drawn about the calibration of the spectrophotometer were considered to be equally applicable to the turbidimetric method. An attempt was, therefore made to conduct precision analyses [38] of the spectrophotometer calibration curve at various concentration levels. According to reference [38], precision refers to the reproducibility among replicate observations. The reference [38] describes the procedure for determination of precision in terms of standard deviation and coefficient of variation (CV) and this procedure has been followed Another reference [39] that discerns between the use of here. standard deviation and coefficient of variation as tools for determining precision in air pollution measurements indicates that typically acceptable values for the CV are between 5 - 10%.

#### TABLE 5.9

# DETERMINATION OF SPECTROPHOTOMETER CALIBRATION CURVE PRECISION

94

Sample Number	Run, 1	Run 2	mg/1 Run 3	Run 4	Run 5	and the second	Statistic: S*	CV(%)**
1			Indetern	ninate	2 9 .		£	
2	5.5 🗸	4.5	3.5	3.0	4.0	4.1	0.96	23.5
3	8.5	,7.5	9.5	6.2	7.0	7.7	1.02	16.7
4	11.5	10.5	8.0	8.8	10.8	9.9	1.46	14.7
5	14.2	14.8	14.8	15.6	16.0	15.08	0.72	4.7
6	20.5	19.0	20.8	20.8	19.5	20.12	0.82	4.1
7	28.5	30.2	29.2	29.5	29.8	29.44	0.64	2.2
8	39.0	40.8	39.2	39.0	40.8	39.76	- 0.95	2.4
91	49.8	47.5	51.0	50.5	49.8	49.72	1.34	2.7
10	60.8	61.0	60.8	61.5	59.5	60.72	0.74	1.2
11	69.5	80.0	66.2	66.8	69.5	70.4	5.58	7.9

- Standard Derivation

i

The coefficient of variation (CV) as a measure of dispersion is computed by  $CV = (s/\bar{x}) \times 100$ .

The spectrophotometer calibration data is included in Appendix B but sulfate concentrations corresponding to percent transmission of each run are given in Table 5.8. The coefficient of variation at each concentration level was then determined to provide an indication of precision at that level. A plot of CV versus concentration level is shown in Figure 5.11. Corresponding to an arbitrarily selected variation of 6% in precision, a concentration range of 15 to 70 mg/1 sulfate was used to obtain most of the results included in the previous sections of this chapter. In some cases an extrapolation of the calibration curve was employed. Figure 5.11 clearly shows a very rapid decrease in precision for concentrations below 15 mg/l sulfate. This error may be further exaggerated if more than one operator, that is, various laboratories are involved. Although lower sulfate concentrations are detectable by the turbidimetric method, a 15 ppm limit is the minimum reproducible limit within 6% deviation. The 95% confidence range at this level is 13.2 to 16.8 ppm.

In order that ambient sulfation results be compatible between various laboratories using turbidimetric method, it is recommended that a series of calibrations be conducted by each laboratory as done in this section and a precision analysis made. An agreed range of calibration curve should then be used by all laboratories and any sampling data falling outside this range rejected.



#### CHAPTER VI

#### DISCUSSION

The sulfation rate of lead dioxide candles in Alberta are, in general, less than 0.3 mg  $SO_3/dm_2/d$  at most monitoring stations L38]. An example of typical field data is illustrated in Table 5.7 of The monitoring was conducted in the refinery row area of Chapt the City of Edmonton primarily during the winter months when ambient /concentrations of sulphur dioxide are somewhat higher than in the summer months. Approximately 50% of the data in Table 5.7 indicates sulfation levels of candles around 15.0 mg/1 or less. The remainder of the results are slightly higher. However, since sulfation rates in summer months are half as much or less as in the winter months [4,36], somewhat similar to the past experience in Alberta, the precision analysis of Section 5.8 show that almost all of the data on a yearly basis, is analysed near or below the minimum reproducibility detection limit (MRDL) of the turbidimetric method. The differences in the seasonal sulfation rates in Alberta may or may not be as high as indicated in references [4,36] since accurate measurements were difficult at such low sulfation rates. At the MRDL of 15 ppm, the 95% confidence interval permits a variation of up to 26% in the sulfation rate, that is

#### (16.8 - 13.3)/13.3 = 26%

This variation at 95% confidence level can be reduced further to approximately 10% if the candles or plates are exposed for periods in excess of the typical one month so that the reacted sulfation levels are high enough to be in the mid-calibration curve range. At higher sulfation levels, measurements are more accurate and standard
deviation is smaller. However, before exposing the candles or plates for longer periods, it is necessary that information about the adsorption capacity of sulfation candles be obtained. Various investigators [3, 14, 24, 29] have indicated that the sulfation rate of the candles remains linear with sulfur dioxide concentration only until a certain percentage of the initial amount of lead dioxide on the candle has reacted. Wilsdon and McConnell [3] indicated effectively no change in the rate of adsorption of sulfur dioxide until at least 15% of the lead dioxide had been consumed. This was an estimated figure based on very limited data and corresponds to an equivalent mean daily rate of sulfation of 13 as compared to that in Alberta of 0.3 mg  $SO_3/dm^2/d$ . Hickey and Hendrickson [24] in the first kinetic study of the sulfation reaction conducted experiments to determine this percentage, referred to as the "critical loading percentage" as described in Section 2.3.2. In order that the proportionality is maintained under different exposure conditions, information of the critical loading percentage and a basis for determining the maximum exposure period are required. This would ensure a standard design basis to obtain either a representative correlation factor between the sulfation rate of candles and ambient concentrations of sulphur dioxide or to compare different sets of sulfation data for establishing long-term trends. In this study the critical loading percentage of the Matheson lead dioxide powder was obtained by comparing it's surface area with the surface areas of the powders investigated by Hickey and Hendrickson. By interpolation the critical loading percentage was calculated as in the following.

Lead Dioxide	<u>Specific</u> Surface, m <sup>2</sup> /g	Critical Loading Percentage
Matheson	5,52	6.71+
Baker ,	1.72	<b>++</b>
ACS 0.72 µ [24]	4.48	4.8
Baker 0.49 µ [24] .	6.82	9.1

The maximum allowable exposure period for Matheson candles was determined from equation 2.2, using a maximum ambient concentration of Ow15 ppm\* of sulfur dioxide prevalent in Alberta. That is,

 $M_{C} = (1873) (6.71)/(0.05)* (17.92)** (100)$ = 467 days ... Equation 6.1

During the maximum exposure period, the sulfation rate remains constant since the exposure period was calculated using critical loading percentage. A similar calculation for Huey plates of surface areas between 19.64  $\pm$  0.01 cm<sup>2</sup> was made. The plates were prepared by Alberta Environment and contained a minimum of 1.65 gm of the Matheson lead dioxide. Allowing exposure of plates to similar gas concentration, a conservative estimate of allowable exposure period was calculated to be

 $M_{P} = \frac{(1873 \times 1.65)}{7} (6.71) / (0.015) (17.92) (100)$ 

...Equation 6.2

= 110 days

+ 6.71 =  $\lfloor (9.1 - 4.8) (6.82 - 4.48) \rfloor X (5.52 - 4.48) + 4.8 m<sup>2</sup>/g.$ ++ - Indeterminate since Hickey [24] did not use powders in this 'range of specific areas.

 \* Estimated maximum 24-hour running average of SO<sub>2</sub> around gas plants in Alberta: In almost all cases, monitored concentrations of SO<sub>2</sub> were well below this level. The figure was arrived at by a random review of records of monitored data with the Alberta Environment.
 \*\* Adsorption coefficient in equation 5.3. since critical loading percentage is inversely proportional to particle size [24], that is, the smaller the particle size, the larger the critical loading percentage, the allowable exposure period can be extended even further with lead dioxide powders having smaller particle size or greater surface area. In terms of specific surface area, lead dioxide with areas equal to or greater than about 9  $m^2/g$  exhibited a marked increase in adsorptive capacity as compared to lead dioxides with smaller surface areas [24]. This corresponds to a particle size of 0.36 microns.

Considering that one month exposure periods during common station study generated sulfation rates at or below the minimum reproducible detection levels of the analytical method and that extended exposure periods are permissible; an improvement in the accuracy of sulfation results can be realized by extending the 'exposure periods to at least 3 month periods. This would allow sufficient increase in the accumulation of reaction product, thereby decreasing analytical errors inherent in the analyses of samples having sulfation levels near the MRDL. In turn, 3 month exposure periods would reduce the monitoring load and yet provide a better estimate of long-term sulfation trends of a region.

The use of Huey plates instead of cylinders is also feasible for 3 month exposure periods for concentrations of sulfur dioxide prevalent in Alberta. The effect of this change will be to reduce the cost of monitoring and the cost of operating the stations. The data collected in this manner would be representative of the 3 month period and attempts to calculate sulfation rates on a monthly basis by dividing with a factor of 3 would be correct only if ambient concentrations of sulfur dioxide remain constant from one month to the next in a 3 month period. And such an assumption may not hold true.

Ambient monitoring of sulfur dioxide concentrations in a region using continuous monitors could indicate whether sulfur dioxide concentrations remain constant in a 3 month period. In any event, the 3 month period could be chosen to represent a season and the data obtained would provide reliable seasonal variations.

J.

Experimental evaluation of the effects of environmental parameters indicates that yas concentrations and wind speeds affect the sulfation rate of the static devices far more than the influence of humidity and temperature variations. Unless the reactive surface of lead dioxide paste was wet, the sulfation rate remained unaffected under various humidity conditions. This fact is in concurrence with the findings of other investigators [4, 25]. Sulfation rates at colder temperatures are marginally higher. There have been no previous experimental evaluations in a laboratory of the temperature effects at the sub-zero temperatures. Hickey [24] studied the temperature effects at 25°C and 45°C but was unable to maintain constant temperatures due to the exothermic reaction. The exposure period was too short and was limited to approximately 5 minutes. The study concluded no discernible effects at those temperatures. Wilsdon and McConnel [3] theoretically postulated that an increase in temperature of 1°C should yield an increase in the reactivity by 0.02%. This is contrary to the experimental evaluations of this study where a temperature decrease led to a slight increase in sulfation rate at the rate of Q.0084 mySO3/dm2/day/°K. An attempt to plot the Arhenius equation from the temperature data in this study results in a positive slope instead of the expected negative slope for the lead dioxide reaction with sulfur dioxide, A possible mechanism of the reaction may involve physical adsorption of sulfur dioxide at lead dioxide

surface before chemisorption and formation of the final product. The concentration of lead dioxide is assumed constant.

 $SO_2 \xrightarrow{kf_1} (SO_2*) ko \rightarrow PbSO_4$ 

...Equation 6.3

The amount of physical adsorption decreases rapidly as the temperature is raised. The pseudo-steady complex is chemiadsorbed forming lead sulfate as governed by,

$$R_0 = k_0 P_A \star$$

...Equation 6.4

...Equation 6.5

where 
$$P_A \star = k_f / (k_b + k_o) P_A$$

and  $P_{A,PA}*$ , represent initial and intermediate-complex concentrations of sulfur dioxide. The experiments to evaluate temperature effects were conducted under dynamic flow conditions at constant concentrations of sulfur dioxide and the insensitivity of the chemical reaction to temperature changes indicates that chemical reaction is not rate controlling.

The effects of temperature predicted by Model-1, however, indicate that the sulfation rate increases slightly at higher temperatures, contrary to the experimental findings. The important point to note is that regardless of how the temperature variations affect the sulfation rate, the temperature effects are very small and with the analytical technique used in this study, more precise determination was difficult.

A significant increase in the rate of sulfation with an increase in gas velocity would indicate that mass transfer through the fluid film is rate controlling. The plots in Figure 5.3, represented by Equations 5.5 to 5.7, indicate an average sulfation rate increase of  $1.51 \text{ mgSO}_3/\text{dm}^2/\text{d}$  for each 1.0 m/s increase in wind speed in the range of 0.3 to 8.33 m/s. That is, the effect of wind speeds on sulfation rate is significant. A logarithmic plot of the experimental data for Matheson candles in Table 5.3 indicated that the data can be approximated by the power law equation,

### W = Constant X U0.4

#### ...Equation 6.6

Model-1 predicts that the sulfation rate is directly proportional to the square root of the wind speed. This indicates a good agreement between equation 6.6 and Model-1. The strong effect of the wind speed, therefore, indicates that gas phase resistance is the predominant rate controlling step. Further, a comparison with equation 2.5, which was derived from simultaneous measurements of sulfur dioxide and mean wind speed in the field is reasonably good allowing for differences in the two environments. Equation 2.5 indicates that at constant concentration, the sulfation rate is proportional to wind speed raised to the power 0.55. The sulfur dioxide levels for equation 2.5 were monitored with the lead dioxide method using cubical shelters to house the sulfation candles, and the winds speed were obtained from anemometers at a nearby weather station.

The mass transfer correlations for flow of gases transverse to cylinders and parallel to plates are shown in Figure B-3, of Appendix C and the Figure was taken from reference [40]. The figure indicates that within the range of Reynolds numbers of  $0.7 \cdot X \ 10^4 - 3.8 \ X \ 10^4$  for cylinders and  $1.4 \ X \ 10^4 - 7.6 \ X \ 10^4$  for plates used in this study, the convective mass transfer correlations for cylinders and plates at a fixed Reynolds number are within 20% or less. This would explain why in Figure 5.3 the sulfation rates for candles and plates at each wind speed were so close to each other.

Since gas phase resistance is controlling, velocity effects are significant, that is, the sulfation rate is proportional to the square root of wind speed. It should be possible to reduce and perhaps

eliminate velocity influences by placing a velocity independent controlling resistance in series with the resistance in the gas phase. One approach to this would be to place a layer of inert, porous material such as a surgical gauze or a porous, non-adsorbent membrane of suitable material over the pasted layer of lead dioxide such that sulfur dioxide reaching the reactive surface would be essentially permeating the gauze or membrane without introducing velocity effects at a negligible velocity.

It is realized that rate controlling steps can change in the course of reaction and can overlap one another at certain stages. But such changes occur generally due to changes in the composition of the reacting mixture as well as changes in the particle size with the progress of a reaction. Since during this study the concentrations of the sulfur dioxide were maintained constant in all experiments and the maximum exposure periods, as calculated by equation 2.2, were not exceeded during experiments, the change in rate controlling step is not believed to have taken place due to either of the two reasons. As it was not the object of this study to determine the reaction mechanisms, additional kinetic studies would be necessary to define reaction mechanism further.

The above discussions have been to this point mainly related to the significance of the individual environmental parameter. However, how would each of these parameters affect the sulfation rate relative to each other in the field remains to be discussed. An attempt was made to provide a common basis of comparison such that the relative significance of wind speed, gas concentration, temperature and humidity in the range of values prevalent in Alberta could be determined. Equations 5.1, 5.5 and 5.8 were used for each respective parameter and the sulfation rates for Matheson candles were calculated at the upper and the lower limit of the selected range of each parameter. The two rates are then divided resulting in a fraction less than 1.0. The smaller the fractional value, the more sensitive is the sulfation rate to variation of that parameter in the specified range.

The average wind speed in Alberta over a long period, typically a month, was selected as being the same as used by Liang et al. [14]. That is, the average wind speed is assumed to be no higher than 2.2 m/s and lower than 0.67 m/s. This is considered a reasgnable range because sulfation instruments are generally set at a height of one to two metres above ground, where the wind speeds are low. A temperature range of -30 to +30°C was used which encompasses the complete range of yearly temperature variations in Alberta, with few exceptional days. Similarly, the range of sulfur dioxide concentrations was selected between 0.001-0.015 ppm. Due to the fact that recorded ambient concentrations on a daily basis in Alberta are very frequently zero, the selected concentration range refers to the maximum recorded 24-hour averages likely to occur in any part of Alberta. This data was obtained from a random review of the Department records around a few gas plants. The ratio of sulfation rate is unaffected by whether the range of parameters are based on a monthly or daily basis. However, a larger or smaller range than the ones selected above would affect the following analysis. With respect to humidity variations since the sulfation rate remains unaffected as shown in Figure 5.1, the ratio of sulfation rates at any two humidities would be 1.0. The ratio of sulfation rates of Matheson candles was now calculated at wind speeds of 0.67 and 2.2 m/s from equation 5.5, and was found to be 0.61. Similarly, this ratio at temperatures of +30 and -30°C from equation 5.8 is 0.89 and at sulfur dioxide concentrations of 0.001 and 0.015

ppm, from equation 5.1 is 0.38, respectively. T

C: U :  $T_A$  : Humidity :: 0.38 : 0.61 : 0.89 : 1

The above analysis merely indicates the relative significance of various parameters affecting sulfation rates assuming that variations in each parameter at a site in Alberta would be as extreme as indicated by each parameter range. However, since ambient concentrations of sulfur dioxide have been shown to decrease significantly with increase of wind speeds for wind speeds less than 2.5 m/s [32], the significance of wind speed and concentration affects are related and would tend to compensate individual affect on sulfation rates ander ambient conditions. Further, on a long-term basis, the average range of variation of each parameter is expected to be smaller than those selected above and the relative significance deduced above would change. This would especially be the case for gas concentrations since the selected range merely represents the maximum daily concentrations. In summary, it can be stated that the gas concentration and the wind speed effects are significantly more influential and that the effects of temperature and humidity are negligible for conditions prevalent in Alberta.

The determination of a universally applicable correlation factor (C/W) is difficult/due to uncertainty of several factors such as change in day-to-day emissions of sulfur dioxide, change in the wind speed distribution throughout the day and the stability conditions of the atmosphere. However, experimental data indicates that the correlation factor remains constant at a constant wind speed with changes in gas concentration (Figure 5.2) and varies sharply with changes in wind speed at a constant gas concentration (Figure 5.7). Figure 5.2 also indicates that due to the effect of different specific surface areas on sulfation rate, the correlation factors would be different for different lead dioxide reagent. The sensitivity of correlation

factors to fluctuations in wind speed indicates that these factors should be used only over a small range of wind speeds. Therefore, if the selected range of average wind speeds of 0.7-2.0 m/s is applied to figure 5.5 and 5.6, the average correlation factors obtained from the experimental data for cylinders and plates are 0.0337 and 0.0375 with +25% deviation over the selected range. This compares very well with the Huey [8] suggested factor of 0.035, and the field measured values [4,6] between 0.02-0.04. The predicted correlation factors by Liang et al. from Model-1 were 0.023 to 0.041 in the above wind speed range.

However, if the wind speed effects on the candles or plates could be virtually eliminated by covering the reactive lead dioxide surface with a porous, non-adsorbent gauze such that sulfur dioxide reaching the reactive surface would be essentially at zero velocity at all times in the field, a reliable correlation factor from field data could be obtained provided that for some period of time a continuous monitor is operated at the same location as the static device. Such an information could be used to compare the correlation factor from the field data with that predicted by Model-1. This hypothesis is based on the experimental data of this study which indicates that the correlation factor remains constant at a wind speed with changes in gas concentration. Since wind speed effects could be eliminated by covering the reactive surface with a gauze, it would seem reasonable that even if ambient gas concentrations vary, the correlation factor would not vary.

Since it has been shown that experimentally determined sulfation rates are proportional to 0.4th and 0.97th power of wind speed and gas concentration as compared to the 0.5 and 1.0 power of the two parameters by Model-1, respectively, the assumption of gas phase resistance as the predominant controlling step is justified. Model-2 is independent of wind speed effects and the sulfation rate is assumed to be proportional to the square root of the concentration of gas, contrary to the experimental findings in this study.

T

The field experiments of Section 5.6, although limited in data, consistently show a difference in sulfation rates due to differences in shelter geometry for each month during the 5 month test period. The results indicate that arbitrary changes made in shelter geometry or employment of different sulfation devices could introduce sources of error in the measured data. The round shelter as designed in this study resulted in lower sulfation rates contrary to the findings of Bowden [7] and Lawrence [26]. A round shelter designed as illustrated in [26], would be needed to confirm results obtained by Lawrence and Bowden.

The sulfation rates of Huey plates were found to be lower than the candles, contrary to the findings of Huey [8]. The possible reasons for our results are already discussed in Section 5.6. It is, therefore, recommended that the Huey plates be exposed in separate receptacles instead of with the cylinders in cubical shelters.

The experimental results obtained during the evaluation of analytical accuracy and pH effects indicate a sulfation loss of 13% during the digestion step. A correction factor accounting for the sulfation loss was incorporated in the data of Chapter V as indicated in the footnotes of various tables. The results of the pH effect evaluations indicate approximately a 6% increase in measured sulfate levels when the aliquot was adjusted from a pH 4.5 to pH 1.5. However, See and Solomon [31] in their work found that large errors

up to 30% in the measured sulfate levels can occur if the samples are adjusted to a different pH than the standard calibration curve. See et al. evaluated the differences in measured sulfate levels at pH 6.1 and 2.8. The errors are largest at the low levels of sulfate due to low reproducibility. See et al. indicated further that if standards and samples are adjusted to the same pH, the errors caused by the different solubility of barium sulfate at different pH levels do not occur and the analysis can be conducted at either pH. However, at higher pH, large errors can occur due to effervescence of carbon dioxide still remaining in the solution. For this reason, it is recommended that analysis be conducted at pH 1.5.

See and Solomon [31] also found that analytically reproducible results were not obtainable below 75 g sulfate even with two aliquot from the same solution. They used an aliquot size of 5 ml containing the above amount of sulfate. The conversion of 75 g/5 ml sulfate to ppm gives exactly the same MRDL of 15 mg/l SO4 as found in this study using an independent precision analysis approach. This corresponds to a sulfation rate of 0.104 mg SO3/dm<sup>2</sup>/day on a 30-day basis.

In the turbidimetric method, the reproducibility of the analytical results depends on the sulfate concentration of the filtrate after adjustment of filtrate to pH 1.5 (Appendix B). For this reason, only the concentration of sulfate per litre in the filtrate is used as the minimum reproducible detection limit.

### CHAPTER VII

### CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The work done in this study leads to the following conclusions and recommendations.

1. The minimum reproducible detection limit of sulfate concentrations by the turbidimetric method is 15 mg/l S04. The method can detect sulfate concentrations below the above limit but the reproducibility is difficult and unreliable. The 15 mg/l sulfate concentration corresponds to a sulfation rate of 0.1 mgS03/dm²/d averaged over a 30-day period. The calibration curve should be used within the 15 to 70 mg/l S04 range, preferably avoiding the reading of the curve at either extreme. Precision analysis (Section 5.8) by each participating laboratory should be conducted to verify the calibration range. The turbidimetric method is a simple, useful and inexpensive method that can provide consistent results within the specified limits.

2.

A large number of sulfation rates obtained during the common station study (Appendix A) were less than 0.1 mgSO<sub>3/dm</sub>2/d. Although the sulfation rates at other sites in Alberta, or during the winter season, may be somewhat higher at some of the sites than the above mentioned minimum rate, generally the sulfation levels obtained during a one month exposure period are too low to be analysed reproducibly by the turbidimetric method. Therefore, to obtain better quality data with the turbidimetric method, it is recommended to extend the exposure period of the sulfation devices to a minimum of 3 months.

- Huey plates and sulfation candles contain a sufficient amount of lead dioxide for an exposure period of 3 months. The significant effect of specific surface area on sulfation rates mandates that the lead dioxide reagent used by various companies have the same specific area per gram of the reagent. Since a marked increase in adsorptive capacity has been indicated for lead dioxides having surface areas greater than  $9 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$  [24], other lead dioxides with greater specific surface areas, instead of the Matheson reagent, can be used if necessary, to allow even longer exposure periods.
- Huey plates and candles should not be exposed simultaneously in the same shelter, due to the possibility of interference between the two devices as discussed in Section 5.6. Huey plates mounted on a separate receptable are recommended to arrive at a reliable comparison of sulfation rates between plates and candles.
  Among the environmental factors considered, sulfur dioxide concentrations and wind speeds affect the sulfation rates significantly. Humidity has no effect unless condensation at the coated surface occurs. Humidity and temperature effects are negligible for conditions prevalent in Alberta. The wind effects result in an average sulfation rate increase of 1.51 mg S0<sub>3/dm</sub>2/d for each 1 m/s increase in wind speed in the range of 0.3-8.4 m/s. Considering that sulfation rates in Alberta are generally less than 0.3 mg S0<sub>3/dm</sub>2/d, the wind effects are very significant.

3.

6. In the field, it should be possible to reduce and perhaps eliminate the wind speed effects on sulfation rate by covering the reactive lead dioxide surface with a porous, non-adsorbent gauze such that only the variations in the gaseous concentrations of ambient air would affect the sulfation rate. If a continuous sulfur dioxide monitor is operated concurrently with a static device, more reliable correlation factors are possible.

- 7. Since the Huey plates have adequate capacity for longer exposures, the plates could be used instead of the candles. As the field evaluations of Huey plates and candles in this study were not very extensive and were not conducted under proper exposure conditions, such as separate receptacles for the two devices and 3-month exposure periods, a further field evaluation is necessary before the sulfation candles are rejected for field use.
- 8. The experimental sulfation rates were found to be proportional to 0.4th and 0.97th power of wind speed and gas concentration as compared to 0.5th and 1.0 power of the two parameters by Model-1, respectively. This indicates that gas phase resistance is the predominant rate controlling step. Within the wind speed range of 0.7-2.0 m/s, the average correlation factor for cylinders and plates is 0.0355 ppm/mg S03/dm<sup>2</sup>/d within +25 percent.
- 9. After the completion of digestion and filtration steps of the turbidemetric method, only 87 percent of sulfate present initially is recoverable. An adjustment in sulfation rates to account for the 13 percent loss should be made.

- 10. Since adjusting the samples and standards to same pH compensates barium sulfate solubility variations but potential for analytical error due to effervescence of carbon dioxide is greater at a pH 4.5 than at pH 1.5, it is recommended that the pH of the standards and solutions be adjusted to 1.5 before conducting sulfate analysis.
- The lead dioxide candles and plates should be prepared and analysed as described in Sections 4.1.5 and 4.2.2 of this report.
   With the above recommendations the common station study should be attempted again to recheck the consistency of results between various laboratories. For the refinery row area in Edmonton, if ambient sulfur dioxide concentrations and wind speeds are also measured at the same time, a check of the derived correlation factor could be made.
  - 13. Additional studies are required to evaluate the effect of the shelter geometry and shelter opening areas on sulfation rates.

# 114 NOMENCLATURE

11. 1

	B	Frequency or pre-exponential factor
•	<b>b</b> * ·	Width of flat glass plate as defined in the derivation between equation 3.6 and 3.7
	C	Concentration of sulfur dioxide, <sup>#</sup> ppm
	ΔCA	Concentration gradient, mole/cm <sup>3</sup>
	$C_A$ , $C_{A,o}$	Sulfur dioxide concentration in air and gel phase, mole/cm <sup>3</sup>
	<u>C</u> A	Average sulfur dioxide concentration at gel phase, mole/cm <sup>3</sup>
	CB	Initial lead dioxide concentration in gel, mol/L
г 5	ď	Diameter of sulfation candles, cm
	D	Diffusivity of sulfur dioxide in air, cm <sup>2</sup> /s
-	Deff	Effective diffusivity of sulfur dioxide in gel, cm <sup>2</sup> /s
	E	Activation energy
	f	Function of Reynolds number in equation 2.3
	∆G	Change in free energy of a reaction, KCal/mole
	H	Height of sulfation candle, cm
	k	Reaction velocity constant in equation 3.3
	k <sub>c</sub>	Convective mass transfer coefficient, cm/s
	k <sub>f</sub> , k <sub>b</sub> ,	ko Rate constants for reactions in equation 6.3
	K	Correlation factor relating sulfur dioxide concentration to sulfation rate, ppm/mgSO3/dm <sup>2</sup> /d
	1,d	Characteristic length of flat plate or diameter of Huey plate, cm
	M	Exposure period of sulfation devices, days
-	M <sub>1</sub> , M <sub>2</sub>	Molecular weight of a metal and its oxide, respectively
·	М <sub>С</sub> , Мр	Maximum Exposure period of sulfation candles and Huey' plates, respectively, days.
•	•	

		115
j	NA	Mass flux, moles/cm <sup>2</sup> /s
	Р	Criti <b>da</b> l loading percentage, % (equation 2.2)
•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Q	Adsorption coefficient, mgSO <sub>2</sub> /ppm/d
	R	Gas constant in equation 3.3
	R <sub>o</sub>	Rate of reaction as defined by equation 6.4
	Red	Reynold number based on the diameter of sulfation candle as defined in equation 3.11, dimensionless
	Re, Re <sub>x</sub>	Reynold numbers for flat plate with a length or charac- teristic dimension x, as defined in equations 3.13 and 3.9, respectively
	S <sub>C</sub> :	Schmidt number as defined in equation 3.9, dimensionless
	Shav	Average Sherwood number (equation 2.3)
." V	Sh <sub>X</sub> , Shd	Sherwood numbers based on characteristic dimension x or d, respectively (dimensionless)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	t	time as defined in equations 3.14 to 3.17
	t'	temperature, °C
	T	Percent transmission of light during spectrophotometer measurements
	TA /···	Absolute temperature of reaction, °K
	U	Wind speed, m/s
•	W	Sulfátion rate, mySO3/dm2/d
	$W_1 \in \mathbb{N}$	Rate of mass transfer by equation 3.10, mole/cm <sup>2</sup> /s
	WA	Rate of mass transfer, mole/s
	Yp	Refers to sulfation rate of plates coated with Matheson lead dioxide, mgS03/dm²/d
	Z	Refers to the location of reaction front in Model-2 and at time t, is denoted by $Z_{f(t)}$
		n an

. .

.

Greek	Symbols	1
α .	As defined by equation 3.22	ý
ρ,ρ <sub>0</sub>	Gas density at temperatures of t' and 0°C, respectively.	
P1,P2	Gas density of a metal and its oxide, respectively	
μ,μ	Gas viscosity at temperatures of t' and 0°C, respectively	
τ	Length of test period in days in equation 3.21.	

2

J. C.

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Russell, E. J., Notes on the Estimation of Gaseous Compounds of Sulfur, J. Chem. Soc., 77,352 (1900).
- Russell, E. J. and Smith, N., The Combination of Sulfur Dioxide 2. and Oxygen, J. Chem. Soc., 77,340 (1900).
- 3. Wilsdon, B. H. and McConnell, F.J., The Measurement of Atmospheric Sulfur Pollution by Means of Lead Peroxide, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. 12,385T (1934).
- Foran, M. R., Gibbons, E. V. and Wellington, J. R., The Measure-4. ment of Atmospheric Sulfur Dioxide and Chlorides, Chem. in Canada (May 1958).
- 5. Keagy, D. M., Stalker, W. W., Zimmer, C. E. and Dickerson, R. C., Sampling Station and Time Reguirements for Urban Air Pollution Surveys, Part I: Lead Peroxide Candles and Dustfall Collectors, JAPCA, 11,270 (June, 1961).

. . .

. .

- 6. Thomas, F. W. and Davidson, C. M., Monitoring Sulfur Dioxide with Lead Peroxide Cylinders, JAPCA 11,24 (January 1961).
- 7. Bowden, S. R., Improved Lead Dioxide Method of Assessing Sulfurous Pollution of the Atmosphere, Int. J. Air Water Pollution, 8, 101-106 (1964).
- Huey, N. A., The Lead Dioxide Estimation of Sulfur Dioxide Pollu-8. tion, JAPCA, <u>18</u>, 610 (September 1968).
- 9. Boulerice, M. and Brabant, W., New PbO2 Support For the Measurement of Sulfation, JAPCA 19(6), 432-434 (June 1969).
- Kanno S., The Colorimetric Determination of Sulfur Oxides in 10. Atmosphere, Int. J. Air Pollution, 1, 231-31 (1959).

- 11. Rayner, A. C., A Rapid Titrimetric Method for Sulfate in Lead Dioxide Exposed to Atmospheric Sulfur Pollution, JAPCA 16(18) (August, 1966).
- 12. Vijan, N. P., Rapid Combustion Method for Determination of Sulfur in Lead Dioxide Candles Exposed to Atmospheric Pollution, Environment Science and Technology, 3(10), 931-934 (October 1969). *a* en la Ind

and the second second

	118	
13.	Carlson, G. D. and Black, Wayne E., Rapid Method for Estimation of Mean Sulfur Dioxide Pollution Using Lead Candles and Atomic Ab- sorption Spectrophotometry, Environmental Science and Technology, <u>7</u> , (11) (November 1973).	
14.	Liang, S. F., Sternling, C. V. and Galloway, T. R., Evaluation of the Effectiveness of the Lead Peroxide Method for Atmospheric Monitoring of Sulfur Dioxide, JAPCA, 23, (7), 605-607 (July, 1973).	
15.	Daniels, F. and Alberty, R. A., Physical Chemistry, 2nd Edition, 213 (1965).	
16.	Pilling, N. B. and Bedsworth, R. E., The Oxidation of Metals at High Temperatures, J. Inst. Met. <u>29</u> , 534 (1923).	•
17.	Biberman, J. J., Surface Chemistry, Theory and Applications, Academic Press, New York (1958).	•
18.	Gregg, S. J., The Surface Chemistry of Solids, Reinhold, New York (1951).	۲۰۰۹ <b>میں ایر ا</b> یر ۲۰۰۹ ایر ایر ایر ۲۰۰۹
19.	Schlichting, H., Boundary Layer Theory, 4th Edition, McGraw Hill Book Company, 317 (1960).	4
20:	Galloway, T. R., and Sage, B. H., Local and Macroscopic Transport from a 1.5 Inch Cylinder in a Turbulent Air Stream, AICHE J. <u>13</u> (3), 563-(1967).	
21:	Scaringepli, F. P., Frey, S. A. and Saltzman, B. E., Evaluation of Teflon Permeation Tubes for Use With Sulfur Dioxide, Am. Ind. Hygiene Ass. J., May-June (1967).	
22.	Davis Sulfur Dioxide Monitor Instruction Book, Models 70A1 and 70A2, Davis Instruments, Newark, New Jersey.	· · ·
23.	ASTM Special Technical Publication No. 234, Symposium of Particle Size Measurement, American Society For Testing Materials, Philadelphia (1959).	
24	. Hickey, H. D. and Hendrickson, E. R., A Design Basis for Lead Dioxide Cylinders, JAPCA, <u>15</u> (9) (September 1965).	
25	Department of Scientific and Industrial Research, Atmospheric Pollution in Leicester - A Scientific Survey (Atmospheric Pollu- tion Technical Paper No. 1, His Majesty's Stationary Office, London) (1945).	
مربع کر ارتخا		•

**.** . . ....

- Lawrence, E. N., The Measurement of Atmospheric Sulfur Compounds Using Lead Dioxide, Int. J. Air Water Pollution 8, 381-388, Pergamon Press (1964).
- Collaborative Study of Method for the Determination of Nitrogen Oxide Emissions From Stationary Sources (Fossil Fuel Fired Steam Generators), EPA 650/4-74-025 (October 1973).
- Paskall, H. G., Factors That Affect the Sulfation Rate of Pb02 Candles - A Review Prepared for Alberta Research Council, February/March (1976).
- Rider, P. E., Rider, C. C. and Corning, R. N., Studies of Huey Sulfation Plates at High Ambient Sulfur Dioxide Concentrations, JAPCA <u>27</u>, (10) (October 1977).
- Welty, J. R., Wicks, C. E. and Wilson, R. E., Fundamentals of Momentum, Heat and Mass Transfer, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 541-545, Chapter 28 (1969).
- See, H. Y. C., and Solomon, I.M., Investigation of the Analysis of Sulfation Plates, Analytical Chemistry, <u>46</u>, (11), 1595 (September 1974).
- 32. Newall, H.E. and Eaves, A., The Effect of Wind Speed and Rainfall on the Concentration of Sulfur Dioxide in the Atmosphere, Int. J. Air Water Pollution, 6, 173-177, Pergamon Press (1962).
- Stalker, W.M., Dicberson, R.C. and Kramer, G.D., Atmospheric Sulfur Dioxide and Particulate Matter, Industrial Hygiene J., January-February (1963).
- 34. West, P.W., and Gaeke, G.C., Fixation of Sulfur Dioxide as Disulfitomercuate II and Subsequent Calorimetric Determination, Anal. Chem., <u>28</u>, 1816 (December 1956).
- 35. Department of Scientific and Industrial Research, The Investigation of Atmospheric Pollution, Fuel Research Station, Blackwall Lane, Greenwich, London (1948).
- 36. Lawrence, E.N., Atmospheric Pollution (SO<sub>2</sub>) in Hilly Terrain, Int. J. Air Water Pollution, <u>6</u>, 5-26 (1962).
- 37. Bird, R.B., Stewart, W.E. and Lightfoot, E.N., Transport Phenomena, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 599-601, Example. 19.1-3 (1968).
- 38. Handbook for Analytical Quality Control in Water and Wastewater Laboratories for U.S. E.P.A., Technology Transfer by Analytical Quality Control Laboratory, National Environmental Research Centre, Cincinnati, Ohio (June 1972).
- Quality Assurance Handbook for Air Pollution Measurement Systems. Vol.1 - Principles, EPA 600/9-76-005, Section C, 15 of 25 (January 1976).
- 40. Welty, J.R., Wicks, C.E. and Wilson, R.E., Fundamentals of Momentum, Heat and Mass Transfer, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, Chapter <u>30</u>, 580-582 (1969).

### APPENDIX A

### COMMON REFERENCE EXPOSURE STATION RESULTS

# TOTAL SULFATION RESULTS - BY CANDLES, mgS03/dm<sup>2</sup>/d 1974

	Jan	. Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul -	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								×	•
1*	.206	.058	.015	.025	.023	.116	.025	.136	.121	.139	.055	-
2*	.207	.277	.098	.090	.086	.017	.103	.100	.127	.111	.106	.075
3	.124	:133	.064	.025	.052	.098	.094	.075	.056	.043	.072	
4	.150	.171	.073	.062	.041	.029	.039	.058	.038	.009	.046	.039
5++	.173	-122	-	-	-	-	-		-	-		-
6	.059	.235	.046	.067	.078	.134	.070	.081	.060	.099	.082	.124
7*	.046	.163	.034	.015	.165	.159	.114	.045	.051	.193	- -	
8.	.091	.047		.024	.081	.042	.025	.044	.091	.103	.127	.086
9++	.071	.079	.029	-	-	-	-	-		-		
10*	.189	.137	.073	.073	.217	.157	.144	.126	.366	.084	* -	-
11	.183	.157	.011	.072	.027	.011	.083	.028	.063	.102	-	· • •
12+	+ -		-	-	.072	.063	.061	.055	.065	.0574	.063	.0502

دود ارسمانی درمد درهو بخان معراق

. .

4. . . . . . . . . . .

ي او المراجع ا المراجع المراجع

et ? and many a

1.1

тч 1

Sign test indicates biased results for these labs. . بو ریاد هی ه<sup>ری</sup> چار به - Very little data and therefore rejected.

÷ ....

اف بلم برياً

To determine if two data sets are consistent, one simple test of a significant bias is to check the sign of the differences in the data set values. If the differences among all of data set values are negative, one has considerable doubt about the lack of a bias as it would be expected that on the average, half would be positive and half negative if no bias were present. For example, if two data sets had 10 values and 9 out of 10 differences were negative or positive, the chance of this happening when there was no bias present is very small. Unless some outside check of the results is available, that is, against some reference standard, it is not possible to assume that one data set is not biased and the other set is biased.

Sign Test

In this analysis, the common station data for each laboratory in the preceeding table were subtracted from all other laboratories and if a large number of signs of differences in the data set values were found to be of one kind, that particular laboratory was considered biased. Laboratories marked by an asterisk (\*) are biased whereas those marked (++) have very few data points to conduct proper evaluation.

### APPENDIX B

#### CALIBRATION PROCEDURES

A. Spectrophotometer and pH Meter

A Bosch-spectronic 20 spectrophotometer was used in these studies to determine the sulfate concentrations of the exposed samples. A stock solution containing 1000 mg/1 SO<sub>4</sub> was prepared by dissolving 1.479 g of anhydrous sodium sulfate in 10% sodium carbonate solution. The mixture was diluted to one liter with the sodium carbonate solution.

Aliquots of 2, 4, 8, 10... ml (as shown in Table B-1) of the stock solution were ciluted to approximately 900 ml with 1% sodium carbonate solution and adjusted to a pH 1.5 by adding diluted HCl, prepared by mixing equal volumes of acid and distilled water. Each of the solutions was diluted to a liter in a volumetric flask with distilled water. The concentrations of standard solutions so prepared are shown in column 2 of Table B-1.

A 50 ml portion of each of the standard solutions was placed into a matching set of nessler tubes and a fixed amount (approximately 1.0 g) of Sulfaver IV reagent was added. The samples were mixed and stirred to precipitate sulfate. A 5 minute period was allowed to elapse before reading the percent transmission. The spectrophotometer was set at 100% transmittance at 420 nm using distilled water blanks before reading any of the standard solutions. The zero reading was adjusted as well.

During these studies the spectrophotometer calibration was checked by reading percent transmittance of at least two standard solutions before processing any set of test samples.

# -123 TABLE B-1

# DATA FOR CALIBRATION OF SPECTROPHOTOMETER

					,			
Sample	Standard Conc.,		Calibration Readings, % T					
Number	SO4(mg/1)	Run 1	Run 2	Run 3	Run 4	Run 5	Average % T	
			······································			P		
1	2.0	100	99	100	100	100	99.8	
2	4.0	95.5	96.5	97.5	<b>9</b> 8	. 97	96.9	
	8.0	92.5	93.5	91.2	95	94	93.3	
4	I0.0	88	89.5	93	92 .	89	90.3	
5	15.0	83.2	82	81.8	80	79	£1.2	
6	20.0	69.0	72.2	68.0	68.2	71	69.7	
7	30.0	53.2	50.5	52	51.5	51	51.6	
8	40.0	38.1	36.0	37.8	38	35.8	37.1	
· 9	50.0	27.0	29	26	26.5	27	27.1	
10	60.0	19	18.8	19	18.5	19.8	19.0	
11	70.0	15.0	12	16.2	16	15	14.8	
12	80.0	11.2	10	13.2	13	12	11:9	
13	100.0	8.0	6.5	7.5	8.	8.0	7.6	
			•	•			· · · · · · ·	

.



Table B-1 shows percent transmittance variation for each of the standard solutions during the five runs. A calibration curve was prepared by plotting an average percent transmittance versus mg/1 S04 concentration as shown in Figure B-1. The calibration data was used statistically to determine the precision criteria as discussed in Section 5.8.

The pHimeter was calibrated each time by using a set of three standard solutions of pH 4, 7, 9. There was hardly any change noticed in the pH meter calibrations during the course of these experiments. The solution in the reference pH electrode needed touching up from

time to time.

### B. Rotameter Calibrations

In this study the two rotameters used in the monitoring console circuit (Figure 4.3) were calibrated as a set against a calibrated wet test meter. Rotameter No. 1 was installed to provide a very small constant flow rate to sweep any permeated gas in the oven and rotameter No. 2 would measure the diluted mixture. Since the purpose was to generate gaseous mixture of known concentrations, individual calibration of each rotameter was considered unessential. The calibrations were conducted by placing the rotameters exactly as shown in Figure 4.3 with the exception that the oven did not contain a permeation tube and the exposure system was replaced with a calibrated wet test meter.

The flow rate in rotameter No. 1 was maintained at a constant float setting of 5 while varying the float setting of rotameter No. 2. The rotameter setting (16, 5) in Table B-2 represents rotameter No. 2



•

set at 16 and rotameter No. 1 at 5 on their respective scale. A stop watch was used to determine the flow rate of air through the wet test meter in litre per minute. Temperature corrections were not necessary since the whole apparatus was operated at room temperature throughout the duration of the study. A calibration curve plotting flow rate in litre per minute on the y-axis and rotameter No. 2 settings along the x-axis is shown in figure B-2. Rotameter No. 1 setting was maintained constant throughout the range of calibrations.

C. Permeation Tube and Monitoring Console

The objective of this calibration was to obtain the concentration of sulfur dioxide per chart division of the chart recorder used in the monitoring console. This was achieved by determining the permeation rate of the permeation tubes followed by computations using the calibrated rotameter flow rates.

Generally, the permeation tubes are made by sealing a condensable vapour as a liquid in Teflon tubes. Following an initial induction period, the material in the tube permeates through the wall of the tube at a uniform rate?

The permeation rate of each tube was determined by placing it in a constant temperature bath for several intervals of time. During each time interval lasting for one to two days, the weight loss of the permeation tube was recorded. An AID Model 300 portable calibration system was used to provide a constant temperature bath. The permeation rate of each tube was obtained by calculating an average rate of weight loss over several intervals of time. The permeation rate varied less than 10 % over different intervals of time. During the permeation rate tests, the clean air flow rate was held constant. Figure 4.3 describes the calibration system for the tubes if the exposure system was removed and the effluent gas vented. A column of water may be used to scrub sulfur dioxide before venting it to atmosphere. Having determined the permeation rate at a constant temperature, the clean air flow rate was varied by adjusting the rotameter float setting. This would provide an effluent gas mixture of varying concentrations of sulfur dioxide. The exposure system containing the chart recorder is now connected to record the output corresponding to each flow rate setting. Cormesponding to each rotameter setting shown in Table B-2, the concentration of sulfur dioxide gas was determined by the following equation:

$$C = \frac{R}{F} \times \left(\frac{24.12}{MW}\right) \qquad \dots Equation B.1$$

where C = Sulfur dioxide concentration, ppm (volume per volume)R = Permeation rate of each tube, ng/min

 $24.12 = Molar volume at 21^{\circ}C and l atmosphere, L/mol and MW = Molecular weight of sulfur dioxide, g/mol.$ 

F = Air flow rate at each setting, L/min

The quantity in parenthes is in equation B.1 converts the permeation rate from a weight per unit time to a volume per unit time. The permeation rate is constant throughout the life of the tube as long as the temperature of the tube is held constant.

129

The sulfur dioxide concentrations in ppm were divided by the corresponding number of chart divisions to obtain ppm per division. Once the ppm per division at constant temperature and over a range of flow rates was obtained, the temperature of the bath and the gas flow rates could be varied to obtain gaseous mixtures of desired concentrations. This would also provide the range of concentrations at a constant temperature that can be generated by varying the clean air flow rates. The system is therefore well-defined and calibrated. Table B-2 shows such a calibration for one permeation tube.

Example: Calculation of sulfur dioxide concentration using Equation

B.1

(a) Permeation Rate Calculation:

Given: average weight loss over 68 hour period

= 0.0238 g

 $R = \frac{0.0238 \times 10^9 \text{ ng}}{1000}$ Therefore, 68 X 60 min

= 5833 ng/min

(b) Therefore, if the rotameter flow at a setting of (13, 5)  
was 11.31 L/min the concentration of sulfur dioxide  
from equation B.1, fs  

$$C = \frac{5833}{11.31} \times \frac{24.123}{64} \times \frac{1}{10^9}$$

$$\Delta = \frac{ng}{min} \times \frac{min}{1} \times \frac{1}{mol} \times \frac{mol}{g} \times \frac{g}{10^9 ng}$$

$$= 0.1944 \text{ ppm}$$

· · · · ·

¢

)

The corresponding output at the chart recorder was 9.7 divisions, therefore the

$$SO_2 \text{ conc/div} = \frac{0.1944}{9.7} = 0.02$$

.....

-`\

. •

Other values in Table B-2 were calculated similarly.

### TABLE B-2

## CALIBRATION DATA FOR ROTAMETERS AND MONITORING CONSOLE

AT CONSTANT TEMPERATURE = 25°C

Rotameter Setting	Flow Rate (L/min)	Chart Div	SO <sub>2</sub> Conc. (ppm)	ppm/div
(16, 5)	14.16	8	0.155	0.019
(15, 5)	13.31	8.25	0.165	0.020
(13, 5)	11.31	9.7	0.194	0.020
(10, 5)	7.97	13.75	0.276	0.020
(8, 5)	6.09	19.2	0.361	0.019
(7, 5)	5.2	23.5	, 0.422	0.018
(6, 5)	4.3	28.5	0.511	0.018
		•		

The above table indicates that provided the flow rate settings were maintained between (16, 5) and (8, 5), the conc/div reading of 0.02 would be valid within 5 percent.

.

1.

L.

APPENDIX C

132

# A. Mass Transfer Model Calculations

 Calculation of sulfur dioxide diffusion in air at 25°C and atmosphere pressure. Sulfur dioxide concentrations vary between 0.08 to 0.032 ppm in the gas mixture.

From Table K in the Appendix of reference [30], the values of  $\sigma$  and  $\epsilon/k$  are obtained.

mol.wt. $\sigma$ , in °A $\epsilon/k$ , in KSO2644.290252Air292.61797

Therefore,  $\sigma_{AB} = (\sigma_A + \sigma_B)/2 = 3.95$ 

 $\epsilon_{AB}/k = (\epsilon_{A/k} \times \epsilon_{B/k})^{0.5} = 156.3$ and  $\epsilon_{AB}/kT = 156.3/298 = 1.906$ 

From Table J in reference [30], the collision integral;

 $\Omega = 1.094$ 

Therefore, at an atmospheric pressure of 27 inches or 0.904 atmosphere, the diffusion coefficient is given by equation,

$$D_{AB} = \frac{0.001858(T)^{1.5} (1/M_A + 1/M_B)^{0.5}}{P \sigma_{AB}^2 \Omega}$$
  
=  $\frac{0.001858 (298)^{1.5} (1/64 + 1/29)^{0.5}}{0.904 \times (3.95)^2 \times 1.094}$ 

 $= 0.13\beta \ cm^2/s$ 

2. Standard data at 25°C and 1 atmosphere,

- <sup> $\mu$ </sup>air = 0.018 centipoise = 1.8 X 10<sup>-4</sup>g/cm.sec <sup> $\rho$ </sup>air = 0.001293 g/cm<sup>3</sup> diameter of candle = 6.30 cm height of candle = 5.08 cm
- 3. Model-1, Gas Phase Resistance Controlling At a wind tunnel setting = 2, which corresponds to a wind speed of 1.575 m/s,

$$Re_{d} = \frac{dUP}{\mu} = \frac{6.3 \times 1.575 \times 0.001293 \times 10^{2}}{1.8 \times 10^{-4}}$$

$$cm \times \frac{cm}{s} \times \frac{g}{cc} \times \frac{cm}{s} \times \frac{sec}{g}$$

= 7171.2

7

and Schmidt no.,  $S_{C} = \frac{\mu}{\rho D_{AB}}$ 

$$= \frac{1.8 \times 10^{-4}}{0.001293 \times 0.138}$$

$$\frac{g}{cm \times sec} \propto \frac{cc \times sec}{cm^2}$$

$$= 1.003$$

Sherwood no. from equation 3.11 of Chapter III is,

$$Sh_d = \frac{2}{(d/2H + 1) In (1 + 2H/d)} + 0.6 S_c^{1/3} Re_d^{1/2}$$

 $= \frac{2}{(6.3/10.16 + 1) \text{ In } (1 + 10.16/6.3)} + 0.6 (1.003)^{1/3} (7171.2)^{1/2}$ = 1.285 + 50.863 = 52.1489 From equation 3.13 for reactive candle, the sulfation rate,  $W = C \frac{8424 \text{ D Sh}_d}{T_A \text{ d}}$ = 0.2 X 8424 X 0.138 X 52.1489

= 6.568 mgSO<sub>3</sub>/dm<sup>2</sup>/d

The remaining calculations are similarly performed at wind speeds of 0.30, 4.36, 5.85 and 8.38 m/s. For flat plates, Reynold number is calculated by using the length of plate equal to 12.5 cm instead of the diameter of the candle and equations 3.12 are used for calculation of sulfation rate. Model 2 - Gel Phase Diffusion Resistance Controlling

Equation 3.23 is used for sulfation rate calculation in this Model.

 $W = 4.7 \times 10^{6} (D_{eff} \overline{C}_{A} C_{B}/1.13 (\pi)^{0.5} \tau)^{0.5}$ 

where  $D_{eff} \simeq 0.1D$ 

Β.

1.50

and  $C_B = 3.35$  g-moles of lead dioxide per liter assuming

1 mm gel thickness and 8 gm  $\text{PbO}_2/\text{dm}^2$  Therefore,

 $W = 4.7 \times 10^{6} (0.0138 \times \left(\frac{0.2 \times 10^{-6} \times 273}{22.4 \times 271}\right) 3.35/1.13 \times 2 (\pi)^{0.5})^{0.5}$ 

 $= 47.88 \text{ mgSO}_3/\text{dm}^2/\text{d}$ 

C. The mass transfer correlations for cylinders and plates from reference [30] are represented by curves 3 and 5 in figure B-3 respectively. Table 5.3 provides the respective equations.



.



				36	•. •. •. •. •. •. •. •. •. •. •. •. •. •. •	an a	* * 5 -
			TABLE 53	DATA FOR FIG	JURE B-3		C
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Curve	Situation	Operation	x	Y	Sc range	••
	1	flow inside pipes	mass transfer	Re	$j_D = \frac{k_0' P}{G_M} (Sc)^{3/3}$	0.6-3000	
· · ·					$=\frac{k_s}{L_M}(\mathrm{Sc})^{2/3}$		
· · · · · · · ·	2	flow inside pip <del>es</del>	heat transfer	Re	$j_{H} = \frac{h}{c_{g}G} (P_{f})^{2/3} = \frac{c_{f}}{2}$		
	3	flow of gases transverse	mass transfer	Re'	$j_D = \frac{k_G' P}{G_M} (Sc)^{0.66}$	0.6–2.6	•••
18 Jacob Maria	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	to cylinders	heat transfer	Re'	$j_H = \frac{h}{c_g G}  (\mathrm{Pr})^{0.44}$	· .	
	4	flow of gases past single	mass transfer	Rc"(Sc) <sup>1/3</sup>	$\frac{k_c d_g}{D_{AB}} (10^{-3})$	0.6-2.7	•
		spheres	heat transfer	Re"(Pr) <sup>2/3</sup>	$\frac{hd_p}{k}(10^{-3})$	•	
• • •	5	flow of gases parallel to	mass transfer	Re <sup>-</sup>	$j_D = \frac{k_G' P}{G_M} (Sc)^{2/3}$	0.6-2.1	
		plates	heat transfer	Rc."	$j_{II} = \frac{h}{c_p G}  (\Pr)^{1/3}$	<b>`</b>	
	6 (	flow of liquids through packed solids	mass transfer	Rc"/«	$j_D(10^{-1}) = \frac{k_s}{L_M} (Sc)^{6-1}$	₩(10 <sup>-1</sup> ) 164-10,700	e <sup>n</sup> Ta
	7	flow of gases through packed solids	mass transfer	Re"	$J_D(10^{-1}) = \frac{k_y}{G_M} (Sc)^{0.0}$	<sup>64</sup> (10 <sup>−1</sup> ) 0.6	
-	8	flow of gases through packed solids	heat transfer	Re"	$j_H(10^{-1}) = \frac{h}{c_p G} (1^{-1})^{0.6}$	•(10-1)	-
	•	$\mathrm{Re}' = \frac{d_c v_{\infty} \rho}{\mu}$	$d_c = cylind$	ler diameter, in ft		mass city, in 15 c/hr ft <sup>a</sup>	
		$\operatorname{Re}^{\sigma} = \frac{d_{p} p_{\infty} \rho}{\mu}$	-	e diameter, in ft	$J = L_{\mathcal{M}} = \text{molar} $ mass		
	. · · ·	$Rc^* = \frac{lv_P}{\mu}$	I — distanc upst e — void fr	tream edge, in ft	<b>~</b> .	mass velocity	7 
•						, ç,	